
AGENDA FOR A MEETING OF THE SCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
December 19, 2019 

POSTED at 5:00 PM December 13, 2019 

Notice is hereby given that a  
REGULAR MEETING  

Of the Board of Directors will be held at: 
400 Church Street, Scotia, CA 95565 

Thursday, December 19, 2019 
Regular Meeting at 5:30 P.M. 

AGENDA 
A. CALL TO ORDER/ ROLL CALL The Presiding officer will call the meeting to order and call the roll of members to

determine the presence of a quorum. PLEASE REMEMBER TO SILENCE ALL CELL PHONES

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
B. SETTING OF AGENDA The Board may adopt/revise the order of the agenda as presented

C. CONSENT CALENDAR Consent Calendar items are routine, to be acted upon by the Board of Directors at one time
without discussion. If any Board member, staff member, or interested person requests that an item be removed from the
Consent Calendar, it shall be moved so that it may be acted upon separately in business.

1. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes November 21, 2019
2. Approval of November 1, 2019 – November 30, 2019 Check Registers
3. Approval of Planwest Partners Invoice November 2019

D. PUBLIC COMMENT & WRITTEN COMMUNICATION
Regularly scheduled meetings provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly address the SCSD Board
Members on any action item that has been described in the agenda for the meeting, before or during consideration of that
item, or on matters not identified on the agenda within the Board jurisdiction. Comments are not generally taken on non-
action items such as reports or information. COMMENTS SHOULD BE LIMITED TO THREE MINUTES

E. Public Hearing -none-
F. Business

1. New Business

a. Election of Board Officers and Appointment of Signatory(s) for checks, Redwood Capitol, and
Umpqua Banks (10 minutes) 

b. Approve Board Meeting time/Schedule for the 2020 calendar year

c. First Reading Water Ordinance 2019-2 An Ordinance of the Board of Directors of the SCSD
Amending Ordinance 2015-2 Title II -Water Service for SB 998 compliance  (15 minutes) 

d. Review Master Fee Schedule FY 19/20 updated to reflect SB 998 (15 minutes) 

e. Personnel Policies Update (10 minutes) 

1

(10 minutes)

page 15

page 16

page
17

page 34

page 44



AGENDA FOR A MEETING OF THE SCSD BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
December 19, 2019 

POSTED at 5:00 PM December 13, 2019 

f. Cal OES  Notification of Obligation and update (10 minutes) 

g. Terra-Gen Update (15 minutes) 

2. Old Business -none-
G. REPORTS      (5 minutes each) 

The Board may briefly discuss any particular item raised; no action will be taken on these items.

1. President’s Report:
2. Board Director Reports:
3. General Manager’s Report:
4. Board Clerk’s Report:
5. District Counsel’s Report:
6. Engineer’s Report:

H. BOARD TRAINING -none-
I. ADJOURNMENT

Next Regular Meeting of the SCSD will January 16, 2020 at 5:30 PM. A Special meeting may be held prior to that. 
Notice regarding the Americans with Disabilities Act: The District adheres to the Americans with Disabilities Act. Persons requiring special 
accommodations or more information about accessibility should contact the District Office. Notice regarding Rights of Appeal: Persons who are 
dissatisfied with the decisions of the SCSD Board of Directors have the right to have the decision reviewed by a State Court. The District has adopted 
Section 1094.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure which generally limits the time within which the decision may be judicially challenged to 90 days. 

2

page 86
page 96

http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/ada/index.html
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=ccp&amp;group=01001-02000&amp;file=1084-1097
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/calawquery?codesection=ccp&amp;codebody&amp;hits=20


Minutes of the REGULAR Board Meeting for the 
Scotia Community Services District 

Thursday, November 21, 2019 at 5:30 P.M. 

A. CALL TO ORDER/ ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE The special meeting of the Board of
Directors of the Scotia Community Services District convened at 5:32 p.m. with the following Directors in
attendance
Diane Black, Director – Present  

Scott Pitcairn, Director – Present 

Susan Pryor, Director –  Present  

Nina Sellen, Director - Present 

Paul Newmaker, President –  Present  

Staff Present—Leslie Marshall GM, Jennifer McDonald BC 

B. B. SETTING OF AGENDA The Board may adopt/revise the order of the agenda as presented.
NO CHANGES 

C. CONSENT CALENDAR
1. Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes October 17, 2019
2. Approval of Previous Special Meeting Minutes: October 24, 2019
3. Approval of October 1, 2019 – October 31, 2019 Check Registers
4. Approval of Planwest Partners Invoices October 2019

Motion: To approve the Consent Calendar 
Motion: Pryor Second: Pitcairn 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT & WRITTEN COMMUNICATION –

• GM introduced written communication from the North Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board
(Regional Water Board) dated 11.21.2019.

• Justin McSmith, the Water Resource Control Engineer for the Regional Water Board wrote this
letter to make a formal statement for the Planning Commission of Humboldt County.

• The letter detailed his concerns for the use of untreated industrial process water in the Terragen
Wind Project.

• The FEIR proposed usage of Humboldt Redwood Company’s Cooling Tower water for construction
of the wind turbines, dust suppression, backfill compaction.

E. PUBLIC HEARING – NONE

3



F. BUSINESS
1. New Business –

a. Lead Remediation on the Museum Plaza Update

• Lead remediation is no longer required of the Museum Plaza area where the former steam
engine and steam donkey were located.

• Lead thresholds were based off of residential stipulations due to the parcel’s erroneous label
on County Web GIS. The parcel is a commercial designation which has higher thresholds for
lead presence.

Motion: To approve SCSD staff to proceed with clean up, excavation of remaining concrete 
pad and brick, and re-sodding on the Scotia Museum Plaza.  
Motion: Pitcairn Second: Newmaker 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

b. Review and authorize for signing the SHN Service Agreement for FY 2019/2020

• Annual Services include NPDES Support Services, Hazardous Materials Business Plan
(HMBP) Update, California Accidental Release Prevention (Cal-ARP) Program-Risk
Management Plan Updates and Training, Annual Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Filter
Inspection, and on-call Engineering Services.

Motion: To approve and authorize the General Manager to sign the attached SHN Services 
Agreement for the Fiscal Year 2019/2020.  
Motion: Black Second: Pitcairn 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

c. Review contract for Ferndale Staffing Secondment Agreement

• Steve Coppini is employed as the Lead Wastewater operator for the City of Ferndale and
maintains a Grade III Wastewater Certificate.

• The SCSD is entering into a mutual secondment agreement to make the services of Mr.
Coppini available to provide on call wastewater services.

• The agreement spells out a monthly hour limit not to exceed 20 hours per month.

Motion: To authorize the General Manager to sign the City of Ferndale Secondment 

4



Agreement for contracted wastewater operator on-call services for the SCSD 
Motion: Pryor Second: Sellen 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

d. Review contract for Whitchurch Engineering for Professional Surveyor Services and Licensed
Engineer On-call Services
• The primary function of this contract is for Whitchurch to provide licensed on-call engineering

services for the SCSD specific to the Scotia subdivision process.

• Additional services desired by the SCSD would require an addendum to services.

Motion: To approve and authorize the General Manager to sign the contract with Whitchurch 
Engineering for the on-call Professional Surveyor Services and Licensed Engineer. 
Motion: Sellen Second: Pryor 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

e. Review draft contract for North Coast Paintball Services

• Staff has written a draft contract for the use of the Scotia Soccer Field by North Coast
Paintball.

• The group met with Board and presented their business model at the regularly scheduled
October (2019) Board meeting.

• The contract has been reviewed by district legal counsel.

Motion: To approve and authorize staff to enter into a rental Lease Agreement with North 
Coast Paintball. 
Motion: Black Second: Pitcairn 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0 
Motion Carried? YES 

f. Resolution 2019-20 Authorizing Agreement with Umpqua Bank to participate in CSDA District
Purchasing Card Program

• SCSD has been approved for CSDA District Purchasing Card Program.

• This program, a VISA card, offers rewards on purchases.

5



 

• Staff will also maintain the Mastercard account with Redwood Capital Bank.  
 
Motion: To adopt Resolution 2019-20, A Resolution of the Board of Directors Authorizing 
Agreement with Unpqua Bank to Participate in the CSDA District Purchasing Card Program.  
Motion: Pitcairn Second: Newmaker 
Motion Vote: 
Ayes: 5—Black, Pitcairn, Newmaker, Pryor, Sellen Opposed: 0, Absent: 0, Abstained: 0  
Motion Carried? YES 
 
2. Old Business  
a. Rio Dell Fire Protection District Annexation follow-up 

• Annexation of Scotia into Rio Dell’s fire jurisdiction was introduced by Humboldt LAFCo and 
the Rio Dell Fire Protection District at the regularly scheduled meeting in October (2019).  

• Each parcel can expect to have approximately $100 assessed on the annual property taxes 
issued by the County of Humboldt.  

• The services of Rio Dell Fire Protection District will lower (improving) the Insurance Service 
Office (ISO) rating for Scotia homeowners potentially lowing home insurance rates.  

This item is informational only. No action was taken.  
G. REPORTS  

The Board may briefly discuss any particular item raised; no action will be taken on these items. 

1. President’s Report: 

• President Newmaker thanked the General Manager for supporting him at the meeting for the Rio 
Dell Fire Protection District Annexation at the town meeting that took place at the Winema theater.  

2. Board Director Reports: -none- 
3. General Manager’s Report: 

• Updates given on the corridor project (sitting at 90% completion) 

• Easement on HRCs property at the Block Building (to accommodate a back-up generator for the 
river pumps) is still in the works.  

• Three (3) companies have been solicited for quotes from companies for the purchase of a generator. 

• A bypass valve is to be installed on Million Gallon tank in order to save costs on polymer.  

• Each tote costs roughly $3,500 and the bypass valve should reduce the need for as much polymer.  

• The annual Filter inspection for the Water Treatment Plant is in the scope of annual services with 
SHN. Staff will be looking into the possibility of completing the work in house if the State Water 
Resource Control Board will allow the job to be completed not by an engineer. 

• The SCSD Water Ordinance and the Master Fee Schedule are being updated to be compliant with 
SB 98 and will be brought to the Board at the December meeting.  

 

6



 

4. Board Clerk’s Report:  

• Board Clerk updated the Board on the CSDA Board clerk conference she attended the week prior.  

• Promoted the idea of taking advantage of CSDAs training and certificate programs for Board 
members and staff of special districts.  

5. District Counsel’s Report: 
6. Engineer’s Report: 

H. BOARD TRAINING -none- 
I. ADJOURNMENT At 6:58 PM by President Newmaker 
 

Next Regular Meeting of the SCSD will December 19, 2019 at 5:30 PM. A Special meeting may be held prior to that. 
Notice regarding the Americans with Disabilities Act: The District adheres to the Americans with Disabilities Act. Persons requiring special 
accommodations or more information about accessibility should contact the District Office. Notice regarding Rights of Appeal: Persons who are 
dissatisfied with the decisions of the SCSD Board of Directors have the right to have the decision reviewed by a State Court. The District has adopted 
Section 1094.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure which generally limits the time within which the decision may be judicially challenged to 90 days. 

 
 

 
These minutes were approved by the Board of Directors of the Scotia Community Services District on 
December 19, 2019 at its duly-noticed regular meeting in Scotia, CA. 
 
APPROVED: 
 
______________________________   ___________________________ 
Paul Newmaker, President     Date 
Board of Directors 
Scotia Community Services District 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________   ___________________________ 
Jennifer McDonald, Board Clerk     Date 
Scotia Community Services District 

 

 

7

http://www.usdoj.gov/crt/ada/index.html
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=ccp&amp;group=01001-02000&amp;file=1084-1097
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/calawquery?codesection=ccp&amp;codebody&amp;hits=20


Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

10000 · RCB Checking 28239 1,304,203.24
Check 11/04/2019 Autopay AT&T Landline Phone Admin Office -292.52 1,303,910.72
Check 11/04/2019 Autopay AT&T Landline Phone Service  W... -423.22 1,303,487.50
Check 11/04/2019 Autopay AT&T Landline Phone Service W... -181.33 1,303,306.17
Check 11/05/2019 51008 John Hancock USA PARS #86360 -243.66 1,303,062.51
Liability Check 11/05/2019 E-pay EDD 093-5926-6 QB Tracking # ... -144.60 1,302,917.91
Liability Check 11/05/2019 E-pay United States Treas... 82-1570573 QB Tracking #... -621.60 1,302,296.31
Liability Check 11/06/2019 QuickBooks Payroll ... Created by Payroll Service ... -1,822.45 1,300,473.86
Paycheck 11/07/2019 DD1035 Brandon W. Wishneff Direct Deposit 0.00 1,300,473.86
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2019 51009 Fortuna Ace -168.84 1,300,305.02
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2019 51010 Johnson's Mobile R... temporary fencing museum... -217.33 1,300,087.69
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2019 51011 Prentice, Long PC Monthly Retainer Legal -1,700.00 1,298,387.69
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2019 51012 SDRMA 7724 -1,203.60 1,297,184.09
Bill Pmt -Check 11/07/2019 51013 Sequoia Gas Co. -1,030.64 1,296,153.45
Deposit 11/07/2019 Deposit 1,177.20 1,297,330.65
Deposit 11/07/2019 Deposit 362.13 1,297,692.78
Check 11/12/2019 Autopay PG&E fireman's park -96.69 1,297,596.09
Check 11/12/2019 Autopay PG&E Carpenter's Shop -140.60 1,297,455.49
Check 11/14/2019 Autopay PG&E Admin Office -83.47 1,297,372.02
Check 11/14/2019 Autopay PG&E Soccer Field -9.53 1,297,362.49
Check 11/14/2019 Autopay PG&E Baseball field -19.05 1,297,343.44
Check 11/14/2019 Autopay PG&E Pedestal Lights -657.39 1,296,686.05
Deposit 11/19/2019 Deposit 1,878.55 1,298,564.60
Deposit 11/19/2019 Deposit 2,566.34 1,301,130.94
Bill Pmt -Check 11/19/2019 51014 Alternative Business... -375.46 1,300,755.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/19/2019 51015 PARS SCO020 -300.00 1,300,455.48
Bill Pmt -Check 11/19/2019 51016 Renner Petroleum 49589 -978.79 1,299,476.69
Bill Pmt -Check 11/19/2019 51017 SHN Water Treatment Plant Re... -192.50 1,299,284.19
Liability Check 11/19/2019 E-pay EDD 093-5926-6 QB Tracking # ... -145.66 1,299,138.53
Liability Check 11/19/2019 E-pay United States Treas... 82-1570573 QB Tracking #... -624.42 1,298,514.11
Check 11/19/2019 51018 John Hancock USA PARS #86360 -249.91 1,298,264.20
Deposit 11/19/2019 Deposit 999.47 1,299,263.67
Bill Pmt -Check 11/19/2019 51019 Planwest Partners Contract staffing service -20,773.50 1,278,490.17
Liability Check 11/20/2019 QuickBooks Payroll ... Created by Payroll Service ... -1,828.59 1,276,661.58
Deposit 11/20/2019 Deposit 102.06 1,276,763.64
Deposit 11/20/2019 Deposit 100.00 1,276,863.64
Bill Pmt -Check 11/20/2019 51021 Recology Eel River 496525 & 505547 -146.64 1,276,717.00
Bill Pmt -Check 11/20/2019 51022 SHN -36,747.68 1,239,969.32
Bill Pmt -Check 11/20/2019 51023 Steves Septic Pumped full load -750.00 1,239,219.32
Bill Pmt -Check 11/20/2019 51024 California Dept. of T... Water Rights fee-- State W... -398.69 1,238,820.63
Paycheck 11/21/2019 DD1037 Brandon W. Wishneff Direct Deposit 0.00 1,238,820.63
Deposit 11/21/2019 Deposit 626.86 1,239,447.49
Deposit 11/21/2019 Deposit 11,296.13 1,250,743.62
Deposit 11/21/2019 Deposit 49,348.77 1,300,092.39
Bill Pmt -Check 11/26/2019 51025 Jennifer McDonald reimbursement for Gas for ... -102.48 1,299,989.91
Bill Pmt -Check 11/26/2019 51026 North Coast Laborat... Includes Local Limits testing -31,864.00 1,268,125.91
Deposit 11/26/2019 Deposit 2,704.92 1,270,830.83
Bill Pmt -Check 11/26/2019 51027 Jonathon Penny Bi-weekly mow and trimming -210.00 1,270,620.83
Bill Pmt -Check 11/26/2019 51028 PG&E -15,450.60 1,255,170.23

1:43 PM Scotia Community Services District
12/11/19 Account QuickReport
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2019

Page 1
8



Type Date Num Name Memo Amount Balance

Deposit 11/28/2019 Deposit 787.50 1,255,957.73
Deposit 11/28/2019 Deposit 32,280.53 1,288,238.26

Total 10000 · RCB Checking 28239 -15,964.98 1,288,238.26

TOTAL -15,964.98 1,288,238.26

1:43 PM Scotia Community Services District
12/11/19 Account QuickReport
Accrual Basis As of November 30, 2019

Page 2
9



Type Date Num Memo Original Amount Paid Amount Balance

12100 · RCB Cust Deposit Savings 10797 5,107.63
Deposit 11/07/2019 Deposit 235.00 235.00 5,342.63
Deposit 11/26/2019 Deposit 100.00 100.00 5,442.63

Total 12100 · RCB Cust Deposit Savings 10797 335.00 5,442.63

TOTAL 335.00 5,442.63

1:44 PM Scotia Community Services District
12/11/19 Account QuickReport
Cash Basis As of November 30, 2019

Page 1
10



Type Date Num Name Memo Original Amount Paid Amount Balance

12000 · RCB Savings 10367 156,918.38
Total 12000 · RCB Savings 10367 156,918.38

TOTAL 156,918.38

1:53 PM Scotia Community Services District
12/11/19 Account QuickReport
Cash Basis As of November 30, 2019

Page 1
11



TEL: (707) 825-8260  P.O. Box 4581   planners@planwestpartners.com 
FAX: (707) 825-9181 Arcata, CA 95518 www.planwestpartners.com 

INVOICE 
DATE: November 30, 2019 INVOICE # 19-226-11 
TO: Paul Newmaker, Board President __________________ 

Scotia Community Services District Approved for Payment 

PROJECT: Scotia Community Services District Staffing Services for November 2019 
Task 1 – Administrative Duties 
1.1 Administrative Duties 
General Admin tasks- filing, document prep, staff meetings, travel for meetings/staffing, 
responded to all incoming correspondence. Checked SCSD e-mail, mail, phone messages. Staff 
meetings, operations meetings, etc. Coordinated Umpqua banking for Brandis Tallman 
Financing for 1.17 million for parks and rec capital projects. 
1.2 Policies, Procedures, Ordinances 
Reviewed Personnel Policy language, Water Ordinance (disconnection), Master Fee Schedule 
1.3 Community Meetings Preparation and Attendance 
Met with parties on various District matters. Construction Meetings and continued coordination 
for Corridor Project. 
1.4 CSD Board Meeting Preparation 
Prepared agenda and board packet and attended regular and special board meetings. 
1.5 Bookkeeping, Billing, Invoicing, and Banking 
General billing and invoicing. QuickBooks and financial accounting. Banking. Prepping Audit. 
1.6 Website Postings, Emails, File Management 
Regular website maintenance and development. Website posting and document publishing. 
General e-mail responses/correspondence. 
1.7 Budgeting 
General budget review. 
1.8 Grant Research and Writing 
Continued correspondence with SHN on water and wastewater planning grant applications. FEMA 
grant meetings, Request for Quotation Prep and Sent. USDA Search Grant Application. 
1.9 Personnel 
Management and coordination of personnel, scheduling, policy review, etc. 
Task 2 – Operations/Management of District Assets 
Continued operations for water, wastewater, parks and recreation, streets and street lighting, and 
storm drainage. WW Board meeting/inspection NPDES review and coordination with all staff, 
CIWQS/Lyris reporting, local limits study, log pond vegetation removal, park rentals, etc. 

12



TEL: (707) 825-8260  P.O. Box 4581   planners@planwestpartners.com 
FAX: (707) 825-9181 Arcata, CA 95518 www.planwestpartners.com 

Services November 2019 
Principal* 0 hours @ $108 per hour $        0.00 
General Manager*  108.75 hours @ $78 per hour  $ 8,482.50 
Asst. GM*  24 hours @ $58 per hour $ 1,392.00 
W/WW Operations Superintendent 22.75 hours @ $58 per hour $ 1,319.50 
GIS Analyst  3 hours @ $72 per hour $    216.00 
Planning Tech/Admin/Clerk*  118.25 hours @ $42 per hour  $ 4,966.50 
Times Standard Notices $        0.00 
Mileage Expenses 532.9 miles @ $ 0.58/ mile $    309.08 

AMOUNT THIS INVOICE # 19-226-11 $ 16,685.58 

*General Manager, Asst. GM, Clerk & Principal time and activities include travel.

Please make check payable to: Planwest Partners 
P.O. Box 4581  
Arcata, CA 95518 

Tax Identification Number: 90-0262382 

13



Scotia CSD: Planwest Partners Staffing - NOVEMBER 2019

Budget July August Sept Oct Senior 
Planner

General 
Manager

 LM

 Asst. GM                 
ST

Operations 
Super-

intendent BG
GIS Analyst   JB

Planning 
Tech/Admin 

JM
Expense Month

Total
Year to Date 

Total
Remaining 

Budget

Rate $261,156.00 $92 $78 $58 $58 $72 $42.00
Task 1 -Administrative Duties $169,476.00 $11,553.08 $64,344.20 $105,131.80
1.1  Administrative Duties $3,863.80 $3,376.44 $4,166.38 $3,401.50 30.75 6.00 55.00 $309.08 $5,365.58 $20,173.70
1.2  Policies, Procedures, Ordinances $646.50 $253.00 $214.50 $235.50 4.25 $178.50 $1,528.00
1.3  Community Meetings prep & attendance $594.00 $390.00 $450.00 $844.50 8.00 9.00 $1,002.00 $3,280.50
1.4  CSD Board Meeting (Prep & Attendance, Minutes) $2,038.50 $1,864.50 $1,549.00 $2,416.00 8.00 17.00 $1,338.00 $9,206.00
1.5  Bookkeeping, Banking, Billing, and Invoicing $2,427.00 $2,140.50 $2,376.00 $2,574.00 3.50 18.75 $1,060.50 $10,578.00
1.6  Website/Emails/File Management $1,690.50 $1,797.00 $1,519.50 $1,962.00 21.00 3.00 14.25 $2,452.50 $9,421.50
1.7  Budgeting $58.00 $117.00 $156.00 $0.00 1.00 $78.00 $409.00
1.8 Grant Research and Writing $448.50 $663.00 $1,443.00 $1,096.50 0.50 $39.00 $3,690.00
1.9 Personnel $1,695.00 $1,343.50 $1,986.00 $994.00 0.50 $39.00 $6,057.50
Task 2-  Operations/Management $91,680.00 $5,132.50 $32,920.00 $58,760.00
2.1 Treated Water, Raw Water, and Distribution $1,999.00 $2,081.50 $952.00 $2,429.50 9.00 5.00 6.75 $1,383.50 $8,845.50
2.2 Wastewater Collection, Treatment, Discharge, NPDES $2,776.00 $3,838.50 $3,096.00 $3,633.50 14.50 9.00 16.00 $2,581.00 $15,925.00
2.3 Stormwater and Drainage $116.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $116.00
2.4 CSD Streets & Alleys, Street Lighting $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
2.5 Parks Recreation: Community Forest, Theatre, Museum, Carpenter
 shop, Landscaping $953.50 $1,092.00 $1,392.50 $1,069.50 12.00 4.00 $1,168.00 $5,675.50
2.6 Land & Easements $1,169.00 $331.00 $741.00 $117.00 $0.00 $2,358.00

Staff Hours 0.00 108.75 24.00 22.75 3.00 118.25 Total Hrs 276.75
Total $261,156.00 $20,475.30 $19,287.94 $20,041.88 $20,773.50 $0.00 $8,482.50 $1,392.00 $1,319.50 $216.00 $4,966.50 $309.08 $16,685.58 $97,264.20 $163,891.80

Monthly Expenses Expense
Mileage: 532.9 @ $0.58/mile  (miles) $309.08
Noticing Expenses $0.00
Printing Expenses $0.00
Postage Expenses $0.00

Monthly Expense Total $309.08

Task

Planwest Partners Inc.

14



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

DATE:  December 19, 2019 
TO: Scotia Community Services District Board of Directors 
FROM: Leslie Marshall, General Manager 
SUBJECT: Election of Board Officers per GC §61043(a) and Appointment of Signatory(s) 

for checks, Redwood Capital Bank and Umpqua Banks 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administrative staff recommends that the Board elect officers for the Scotia Community 
Services District Board of Directors and appoint signatories.  

ACTION: 

Elect Board Officers and appoint signatories by 2 separate motions. 

DISCUSSION: 

Per GC §61043(a), within 45 days after each general district or unopposed election, the board of 
directors shall meet and elect the officers of the board of directors. A board of directors may 
elect the officers of the board of directors annually. The officers of a board of directors are a 
president and a vice president. The president shall preside over meetings of the board of directors 
and the vice president shall serve in the president's absence or inability to serve. A board of 
directors may create additional offices and elect members to those offices, provided that no 
member of a board of directors shall hold more than one office. 

Per the Scotia CSD Financial Management policies, the SCSD shall have two signatories, the 
General Manager and one Board Member designated by the Board of Directors. The Board 
President is a de facto signatory. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None 

15



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

DATE:  December 19, 2019 
TO: Scotia Community Services District Board of Directors 
FROM: Leslie Marshall, General Manager 
SUBJECT: Approve Board meeting time and schedule for the 2020 calendar year 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administrative staff recommends that the Board discuss and approve the regular meeting 
time and schedule for the 2020 calendar year, 

ACTION: 

Motion to approve the SCSD meeting time and schedule for the 2020 calendar year. 

DISCUSSION: 

The SCSD regular Board meeting time for the 2019 calendar year was set as the third Thursday 

of each month at 5:30 PM. If this time and schedule is sufficient for all members of the Board, it 

may remain unchanged. If any members foresee conflicts in the upcoming year then this is an 

opportunity to reschedule the regular meeting time.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None 

16



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

Date: December 19, 2019 
To: Scotia CSD Board of Directors 
From: Leslie Marshall, GM and Jennifer McDonald, BC 
Subject: Staff Report - Water Ordinance 2019-2 Amending Ordinance 2015-2 Title II – 

Water Service 

RECOMMENDATION:  

First Reading of Water Ordinance 2019-2 Amending Ordinance 2015-2 Title II – Water Service 

ACTION: 

Review, discussion and First Reading by Title Only. 

DISCUSSION: 

From time to time, District Ordinances are reviewed and updated as required. This is the second 
revision to the original Water Ordinance 2015-02. The secondary revision is to maintain 
compliance with SB 998. SCSD policy must be compliant with SB 998 no later than February 
2020. This senate bill mandates that all agencies providing water service must incorporate 
updated specifications within written policy on the discontinuation of service for residential 
customers for non-payment. Specifications within the bill require our policies to adhere to the 
following: 

• Prohibits discontinuing service for residential customers until they have been delinquent
for at least 60 days.

• Requires the SCSD to contact the name on the delinquent account and provide them with
the written policy no less than seven (7) days prior to discontinuing service.

• Requires the SCSD to waive interest charges on delinquent bills and limit the amount of
reconnection service fee for customers 200% below the federal poverty line.

• Requires the SCSD to report the annual number of disconnections of residential service
for inability to pay on its website and to the State Water Resource Control Board.

Furthermore, the Policy/Ordinance shall include the following: 

• A plan for deferred or reduced payments.
• An alternative payment schedule.
• A formal mechanism for a customer to contest/appeal a bill.
• A phone number for customers to contact the district to discuss options for averting

discontinuation of service for non-payment.

17



This ordinance revision has been reviewed by District legal counsel. 

The Ordinance Amendment will be posted in the Times Standard prior to adoption in January, 
and the full text will be posted at the District Office for public review.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None - May reduce revenue for any penalties reduced or waived. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

Ordinance 2019-2 An Ordinance of the Board of Directors of the SCSD Amending 2018-2 

Title II-Water Service 

18



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

ORDINANCE NO. 20198-2 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OF THE  

SCOTIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
AMENDING ORDINANCE 2015-2 TITLE II –WATER SERVICE 

 
The Board of Directors of the Scotia Community Services District does ordain as follows: 
 
Section 1: Title II (Water Service) is hereby adopted as follows:  

 
 

TITLE II - WATER SERVICE 
CHAPTER 1 - WATER 

 
SEC. 1.01. Words and Phrases. For the purpose of this article all words used herein in the 
present tense shall include the future; all words in the plural number shall include the singular 
number; and all words in the singular number shall include the plural number. 
 
SEC. 1.02. Water System. The District will furnish a system, plant works and undertaking used 
for and useful in obtaining, conserving and distributing of water for public and private uses, 
including all parts of the water system, all appurtenances to it, and lands, easements, rights in 
land, water rights, contract rights, franchises, and other water supply, storage and distribution 
facilities and equipment. 
 
SEC. 1.03. Separability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this article is 
for any reason held to be unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance. 
 
SEC. 1.04. Pressure Conditions. All applicants for service connections or water service shall be 
required to accept such conditions of pressure and service as are provided by the distributing 
system at the location of the proposed service connection, and to hold the District harmless for 
any damages arising out of low pressure or high pressure conditions or interruptions in service. 
 
SEC. 1.05. Maintenance of Water Pressure and Shutting Down. The District shall not accept 
any responsibility for the maintenance of pressure, and it reserves the right to discontinue service 
while making repairs. Customers dependent upon a continuous supply should provide emergency 
storage and supply. 
 
SEC. 1.06. Tampering With District Property. No one except an employee or an authorized 
representative of the District shall at any time in any manner operate the curb stops or valves, 
main stops, gates or valves of the District's system; or interfere with meters or their connections, 
street mains or other parts of the water system. Water service may be discontinued until situation 
is resolved.  
 
SEC. 1.07. Penalty for Violation. For the failure of the customer to comply with all or any part 
of this article, and any ordinance, resolution or order fixing rates and charges of the District, a 
penalty for which has not hereafter been specifically fixed, the customer's service shall be 
discontinued and the water shall not be supplied until the customer has complied with the rule or 
regulation, rate or charge which was violated or, in the event that they cannot comply with said 
rule or regulation, until they have satisfied the District that in the future they will comply with all 

19



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

the rules and regulations established by ordinance of the District, and with all rates and charges 
of this District. 
 
SEC. 1.08. Ruling Final. All rulings of the General Manager shall be final unless appealed in 
writing to the Board of Directors within (5) days. When a ruling of the General Manager is 
appealed in writing, the Board of Directors’ ruling shall be final.  
 
SEC. 1.09. General Definitions. All definitions included in Ordinance 2015-1 – Definitions, 
shall be included by reference and by such reference shall be incorporated in this ordinance as 
though herein set out in full. 
 
SEC. 1.10. General Manager. The position of General Manager is hereby created. The General 
Manager shall regularly inspect and maintain all physical facilities related to the District water 
system, to see that they are in good repair and proper working order, and to note violations of 
any water regulations. The General Manager shall report directly to the Board of Directors. 
 
The General Manager shall have, subject to approval of the Board of Directors, full charge and 
control of the maintenance, operation and construction of the water works and system; authority 
to employ and discharge all employees and assistants; fix and alter the compensation of 
employees and assistants subject to approval by the Board; and shall have charge of all 
employees and assistants. The General Manager shall perform such other duties as are imposed 
from time to time, and shall report to the Board of Directors in accordance with the rules and 
regulations as adopted by the Board. 
 
The General Manager shall promptly report any violation or disrepair to the Board of Directors. 
If the work required is in the nature of an emergency, they shall take whatever steps are 
necessary to maintain service to Customers. 
 
The General Manager, or their designee shall supervise all repair of construction work authorized 
by the Board and perform any other duties prescribed elsewhere in this ordinance or which shall 
be hereafter prescribed by the Board. 
 
SEC. 1.11. Clerk. The position of the Clerk is hereby created. The Clerk shall have charge of the 
District office and of the billing for and collecting the charges herein provided. The Clerk shall 
perform such other duties as shall be determined by the General Manager and Board. 
 
The Clerk shall compute, prepare and mail bills as hereinafter prescribed, make collections, 
maintain proper books of account, collect account for and refund deposits, do whatever else is 
necessary or directed by the Board to set up and maintain an efficient and economical 
bookkeeping system, and perform any other duties now or hereafter prescribed by the Board. 
 
SEC. 1.12. Performance of Duties. The foregoing duties of the Clerk may be performed by an 
additional authorized employee. 
 
 

CHAPTER 2 - NOTICES 
 
SEC. 2.01. Notices to Customers. Notices from the District to a customer will normally be 
given in writing, and either delivered or mailed to their last known address. Where conditions 
warrant and in emergencies, the District may resort to notification either by telephone, 
messenger or door hanger.  
 
SEC. 2.02. Notices from Customers. Notice from the customer, or authorized representative, to 
the District may be given in writing at the District's operating office. 

20



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service 15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

CHAPTER 3 - APPLICATION FOR REGULAR WATER SERVICE 

SEC. 3.01. Application. A property owner or their agent may apply for regular water service at 
the District offices by completing an application form, paying a nonrefundable processing fee 
and providing a deposit. The fee schedule and deposit amount can be acquired at the District 
office. The amounts are set by a resolution of the Board. The deposit will be applied to the 
account as a credit after 12 months with a good payment record. 

SEC. 3.02. Application Agreement. The completion of an application will signify the 
customers' willingness and intention to comply with this and other ordinances or regulations 
relating to the regular water service and to make payment for all fees, costs and expenses 
associated with provision of the water service. In the event an application is executed by two or 
more individuals as the customer, each individual executing the application shall be jointly and 
severally liable to make payment for all fees, costs and expenses associated with provision of the 
water service.  

SEC. 3.03. Payment for Previous Service. An application will not be honored unless payment 
in full has been made for water service previously rendered to the applicant by the District. 

SEC. 3.04. Installation Charges. Services and meters shall be installed without charge for all 
applications for water service received prior to or during the initial construction of the District's 
water system. The charges below will apply to applications received after the District's 
Contractor has progressed with the work beyond their property frontage.  

Where the applicant requests installation of a 1 1/2 inch or larger water meter or where unusual 
circumstances exist, the charge for installation of water service shall be equal to the estimated 
cost plus 10 percent of such service connection. The applicant shall deposit said amount with the 
District prior to installation, the District will track actual expenditures, the District will compute 
the difference between the deposit and the actual expenditure, the District will rebate the 
difference to the applicant where the actual expenditure is less than the deposit. The term 
"unusual circumstances", as used in this rule, shall include water mains deeper than 6 feet, slopes 
greater than 20 percent, service line lengths of more than 35 feet and closure of roadway due to 
traffic safety considerations. The schedule for all other service connections shall be as shown in 
the rate schedule. 

Where the applicant requests the installation of a water meter in an existing water meter box, and 
the requested meter is to be connected to an existing meter set, the schedule of water meter 
installation charges shall be as shown in the rate schedule. 

SEC. 3.05. Installation of Service. Upon application approval, water service infrastructure will 
be installed as requested by the applicant. The size shall be determined by the applicant. Service 
installations will be made only to property abutting on distribution mains as have been 
constructed in public streets, alleys, or easements, or to extensions thereof as hereby provided.  

SEC. 3.06. Changes in Customer's Equipment. Customers making any material change in the 
size, character, or extent of the equipment or operations utilizing water service, or whose change 
in operations results in a large increase in the use of water, shall immediately give the District 
written notice of the nature of the change and, if necessary, amend their application. 

SEC. 3.07. Size and Location. The District reserves the right to determine the size of service 
connections and their location with respect to the boundaries of the premises to be served. The 

21



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

laying of Customer's pipe line to the meter should not be done until the location of the service 
connection has been approved by the District. 
 
SEC. 3.08. Curb Stop. Every service connection installed within the District shall be equipped 
with a curb stop on both sides of the meter. The inlet curb stop is intended for the exclusive use 
of the District in controlling the water supply through the service connection pipe. If the inlet 
curb stop is damaged by the Customer's use to an extent requiring replacement, such replacement 
shall be at the Customer's expense. All new installations shall have a customer isolation valve, or 
outlet curb stop in box, to be owned, maintained, and used by customer. 
 
SEC. 3.09. Residential, Commercial and Industrial Service Connection. It shall be unlawful 
to maintain a connection excepting in conformity with the following rules: 
 

A. Separate Building. Each building under separate ownership must be provided with a 
separate service connection. Two or more buildings on the same lot shall have 
separate services if the buildings could legally be sold separately. Two or more 
buildings under one ownership and on the same lot or parcel of land may (with 
specific Board approval, based on hardship) or extenuating circumstances be supplied 
through the same service connection; provided, that for each building under a 
separate roof an additional minimum will be applied to the single meter serving said 
buildings. The District reserves the right to limit the number of buildings or the area 
of land under one ownership to be supplied by one service connection. 
 

B. Separate Property. A service connection shall not be used to supply property of the 
same owner across a street or alley, without written approval for specific cases 
otherwise meeting the intent of this ordinance. 
 

C. Divided Property. When property provided with a service connection is divided, 
each service connection shall be considered as belonging to the lot or parcel of land 
which it directly enters. 

 
SEC. 3.10. Service Connections. The service connections extending from the water main to the 
property line and including the meter, meter box and curb stop, shall be maintained and owned 
by the District. All pipes and fixtures extending or lying beyond the meter shall be installed, 
owned and maintained by the owner of the property. 
 
SEC. 3.11. Water Capacity Fee. A water capacity fee shall be collected from each applicant 
requesting a new water service in addition to any processing fees and/or installation charges. The 
capacity fee is based on meter size, as shown on the rate schedule. 
 
Due to recent changes in building code regulations, new single-family homes are to be sized with 
a 1” meter because of fire protection systems, rather than the typical 5/8” meter. It is 
recommended that all new single family residential units, with meter sizes 5/8” up to and 
including 1”, that require a larger size meter because of fire protection, be charged the 5/8” meter 
rate to reflect their typical demand on the system. 
 
SEC. 3.12. Commercial Landscape Meters. The General Manager shall encourage all 
commercial users to install an irrigation meter in addition to the regular water meter. Where the 
customer agrees to install an irrigation meter, the overall connection charge shall be the same as 
if one water meter had been installed and the installation charge shall reflect the actual time and 
materials cost of adding an additional meter on the service line constructed for the primary 
meter.  
 

22



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service 15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

CHAPTER 4 - GENERAL USE REGULATION 

SEC. 4.01. Number of Services per Premises. The applicant may apply for as many services as 
may be reasonably required for their premises, provided that the pipe line system from each 
service be independent of the others, they are not interconnected, and adequate water supply and 
pressure exists. 

SEC. 4.02. Water Waste. No customer shall knowingly permit leaks or waste of water. Where 
water is wastefully or negligently used on a customer's premises seriously affecting the general 
service, the District may discontinue the service if such conditions are not corrected within five 
(5) days after giving the customer written notice.

SEC. 4.03. Responsibility for Equipment on Customer Premises. All public facilities 
installed by the District on private property for the purpose of rendering water service shall 
remain the property of the District and may be maintained, replaced or repaired by the District 
without consent or interference of the owner or occupant of the property. The property owner 
shall use reasonable care in the protection of the facilities. No payment shall be made by District 
for placing or maintaining said facilities on private property. 

SEC. 4.04. Damage to Water System Facilities. The customer shall be liable for any damage to 
the service facilities when such damage is from causes originating on the premises by an act of 
the customer or their tenants, agents, employees, contractors, licensees or permittees, including 
the breaking or destruction of locks by the customer or others on or near a meter, or by blocking 
or parking on the meter. The District shall be reimbursed by the customer for any such damage 
or towing charge promptly on presentation of a bill. 

SEC. 4.05. Ground-Wire Attachments. All individuals or business organizations are forbidden 
to attach any ground- wire or wires to any plumbing which is or may be connected to a service 
connection or main belonging to the District. The District will hold the customer liable for any 
damage to its property occasioned by such ground-wire attachments. 

SEC. 4.06. Control Valve on the Customer Property. The customer shall provide a private 
outlet isolation valve in box on the private property side of the service installation, as close to the 
meter location as practicable, to control the flow of water to the piping on their premises. The 
customer shall not use the public inlet curb stop to turn water on and off for their convenience. 

SEC. 4.07. Cross-Connections. The customer must comply with State and Federal laws 
governing the separation of dual water systems or installations of back flow protective devices to 
protect the public water supply from the danger of cross-connections as determined by the 
District. Back flow protective devices must be installed as near the service as possible and shall 
be open to test and inspection by the District. Plans for installation of back flow protective 
devices must be approved by the District prior to installation. Backflow protective devices shall 
be owned, maintained and tested at customer expense.  

SEC. 4.08. ID. - Special Cases. In special circumstances, when the customer is engaged in the 
handling of especially dangerous or corrosive liquid(s) or industrial or process water(s), the 
District may require the customer to eliminate certain plumbing or piping connections as an 
additional precaution and as a protection to the back flow preventive devices. 

SEC. 4.09. Pressure Reducing Valves. As a protection to the customer's plumbing system, a 
suitable pressure reducing valve must be installed, owned and maintained by the customer at 
their expense, when check valve or other protective devices are used. The pressure reducing 

23



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

valve shall be installed on the customer side of the meter between the check valves and the 
residence. 
 
SEC. 4.10. Back Flow Device. Whenever back flow protection has been found necessary on a 
water supply line entering a customer's premises, then any and all water supply lines from the 
District's mains entering such premises, buildings or structures shall be protected by an approved 
back flow device, regardless of the use of the additional water supply lines. The ownership, 
maintenance, and certified testing shall be the responsibility of the customer. The customer shall 
submit the testing results annually to the District. Failure to properly maintain or submit certified 
test results may result in termination of water service. 
 
SEC. 4.11. Discontinued Service. The service of water to any premises may be immediately 
discontinued by the District if any defect is found in the check valve installation(s), other 
protective device(s), private water service, or if it is found that dangerous unprotected cross-
connection(s) exist. Service will not be restored until such defect(s) are corrected.  
 
SEC. 4.12. Interruptions in Service. The District shall not be liable for damage which may 
result from an interruption in pressure or service. 
 
SEC. 4.13. Ingress and Egress. The District shall have the right of ingress and egress to the 
customer's premises for any purpose reasonably connected with the furnishing of water service. 
 
SEC. 4.14. Underground Water Service. All private water services shall be buried; no above 
ground water service shall be allowed. 
 
SEC. 4.15. Penalty for Unauthorized Use. The ability of the District to fill and maintain 
storage in their water storage tanks is critical to District operations and fire protection. 
Customers that fail to maintain their facilities (leaks, etc.), the taking of unauthorized water, 
customer operations that result in excessive fire protection measures that impact District raw or 
potable water tank storage (excessive fires) or customer operations that drain the fire or potable 
water tanks shall be subject to penalties or discontinuance of water or private fire protection 
service. The customer shall be subject to a penalty of $5,000 per violation, increasing $5,000 for 
each subsequent violation up to three violations in a calendar year, plus the cost of water and 
electrical use. After three events per calendar year, the District may discontinue water or private 
fire protection service. Non-structure fires shall be subject to the same above noted penalties, .  
(Revised 11/15/18 Ordinance 2018-2) 
 
 
 

CHAPTER 5 - METERS 
 
SEC. 5.01. Meter Installations. Meters will be installed in the sidewalk area whenever possible, 
or as determined by the District, and shall be owned by the District and installed and removed at 
its expense. No rent or other charge will be paid by the District for a meter or other facilities, 
including connections on private property. No meter, seal, or lock shall be altered or broken 
except by one of the District’s authorized employees or agents. 
 
SEC. 5.02. Change in Location of Meters. Meters moved for the convenience of the customer 
will be relocated at the customer's expense. Meters moved to protect the District's property will 
be moved at District expense. If the customer desires to have the meter moved, the customer will 
be required to pay for new service at the desired location, as approved by the District. 
 
 

CHAPTER 6 - BILLING 

24



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

 
SEC. 6.01. Billing Period. The regular billing period will be monthly. 
 
SEC. 6.02. Meter Reading. Meters will be read monthly or bi-monthly.  
 
SEC. 6.03. Opening and Closing Bills. Opening and closing bills for less than the normal 
billing period shall be pro-rated as to volumetric consumption, excluding base rate. If the total 
period for which service is rendered is less than one month, the monthly base rate shall not be 
less than the monthly minimum charge applicable. Closing bills may be estimated by the District 
for the final period as an expediency to permit the customer to pay the closing bill at the time 
service is discontinued.  
 
SEC. 6.04. Water Charges. Water charges are due and payable at the office of the District on 
the date of mailing the bill to the property owner or their agent as designated in the application, 
and delinquent thirty (30) days after the invoice date.  
 
SEC. 6.05. Payment of Bills. Bills for metered water service shall be rendered at the end of each 
billing period. Bill shall be payable on presentation. If this bill is not paid within sixtythirty (630) 
days after the invoice date, service may be discontinued. A reconnection charge and penalties 
will be made and collected prior to renewing service following a discontinuance.  
 
SEC. 6.06. Billing of Separate Meters Not Combined. Separate bills will be rendered for each 
meter installation except where the District has, for its own convenience, installed two or more 
meters in place of one meter. Where such installations are made the meter reading may be 
combined for billing purposes.  
 
SEC. 6.07. Customer's Guarantee. The water charge begins when a service connection is 
installed and the meter is set, unless the water is ordered to be left shut off when the service 
connection is ordered to be installed. Before water is turned on by the District for any purpose, 
the customer must sign a form in which they guarantee payment of future water bills for the 
service required. The person signing the guarantee form or meter set form will be held liable for 
water used until the District is notified in writing to discontinue service or to transfer the account 
to another party. 
 
SEC. 6.08. Water Used Without Required Application. A person taking possession of 
premises and using water from an active service connection without having made application to 
the District for water service shall be held liable for the water delivered from the date of the last 
recorded meter reading, and if the meter is found inoperative, the quantity consumed will be 
estimated. If proper application for water service is not made upon notification to do so by the 
District, and if accumulated bills for service are not paid immediately, the service shall be 
discontinued by the District without further notice. 
 
SEC. 6.09. Damages through Leaking Pipes and Fixtures. The District's jurisdiction and 
responsibility ends at the water service meter and the District will in no case be liable for 
damages occasioned by water running from open or faulty fixtures, or from broken or damaged 
pipes behind the water meter or inside the property line.  
 
SEC. 6.10. Damage to Meters. The District reserves the right to set and maintain a meter on any 
service connection. The water Customer shall be held liable, however, for any damage to the 
meter. 
 
SEC. 6.11. Public Institution Base Billing Charges. Where multiple water meters serve a 
public institution, a single meter base charge may be charged based on the largest meter serving 
the institution. 

25



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

 
 

CHAPTER 7 - DISCONTINUANCE OF SERVICE 
 
SEC. 7.01. Termination of Service. Water service may be terminated by the District in 
compliance with the notice and other requirements of Title 6, Division 1, Chapter 9.6 of the 
California Government Code. 
 

A. Water service may be discontinued for any one of the following reasons: 
 

1. Delinquency in payment of any water service rate or charge, except that 
residential service shall not be discontinued for non-payment in any of the 
following situations: 
 

a. During the pendency of any investigation by the District of a 
customer dispute or complaint; 
 

b. When a customer has been granted an extension of the period for 
payment of a bill respecting water service; 
 

c. On the certification of a licensed physician and surgeon that to do so 
will be life threatening to the customer and the customer is 
financially unable to pay for service within the normal payment 
period and is willing to enter into an amortization agreement with the 
District and requests permission to amortize, over a period not to 
exceed twelve (12) months, the unpaid balance of any bill asserted to 
be beyond the means of the customer to pay within the normal 
payment period; 
 

2. The unauthorized taking of water or the taking of water in excess of the 
amount paid for; 
 

3. Failure of the customer to maintain their facilities in suitable condition to 
prevent waste or unauthorized use of water; 
 

4. The existence of an unprotected cross connections on the customer's premises 
or the lack of adequate backflow protection at the service connection; 
 

5. Any violation by the customer of any rules of the District governing water 
service. 

 
6. Continued Events that result in emptying the potable or raw water fire tanks.  

 
B. The following process will be followed prior to discontinuance of residential service 

for non-payment: 
 

1. At least fifteen (15) days before any proposed discontinuance of residential 
water service for non-payment of a delinquent account respecting such service, 
the District shall mail a notice, postage prepaid, to the customer to whom the 
service is billed of the proposed discontinuance. Such notice shall be given not 
earlier than fiftytwenty-nine (529) days from the date of mailing the District's 
bill for such services and the fifteen (15) day period shall not commence until 
five (5) days after the mailing of the notice. In addition to the fifteen-day notice 
provided for in the preceding sentence, the District shall make a reasonable 

26



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

attempt to contact an adult person residing at the premises of the customer by 
telephone or personal contact at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to 
discontinuance of service, except that, whenever telephone or personal contact 
cannot be established, the District shall give, by mail, in person, or by posting 
in a conspicuous location at the premises, a notice of discontinuance of service, 
at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to disconnection. To avoid service 
disconnection payment must be made at the District Office prior to 11:59 a.m. 
on the day specified for discontinuance. 
 

2. Every notice of discontinuance of service required by this section shall include 
the following information: 
 

a. The name and address of the customer whose account is delinquent; 
 

b. The amount of the delinquency; 
 

c. The date by which payment or arrangements for payment is required in 
order to avoid discontinuance; 
 

d. A description of the process to apply for an extension of time to pay 
d. the delinquent charges.The procedure by which the customer may 

initiate a complaint or request an investigation concerning service or 
charges, unless the District's bill for services contains a description of 
that procedure; 
 

e. A description of the procedure to petition for bill review and appeal.The 
procedure by which the customer may request amortization of unpaid 
charges; 
 

f. The procedure for the customer to obtain information on the     
availability of financial assistance; 
 

f. The telephone number and name of a representative of the District who 
can provide additional information or institute arrangements for 
payment. 

g. A description of the procedure by which the customer may request a 
deferred, reduced, or alternative payment schedule, including an 
amortization of the delinquent residential service charges, consistent 
with the written policies provided pursuant to subdivision (a) of section 
116906 (to Part 12 of Division 104 of the Health and Safety Code, 
relating to water).  

 
h. The District shall provide to the customer, upon issuance of the 

proposed discontinuance, an offer to provide (in writing) the District 
policy on discontinuance of residential service for non-payment. The 
District shall also offer to discuss options to avert discontinuation of 
residential service for nonpayment, including, but not limited to, 
alternative payment schedules, deferred payments, minimum payments, 
procedures for requesting amortization of the unpaid balance, and 
petition for bill review and appeal. 
 

g.3. If the District is unable to make contact with the customer or an adult 
occupying the residence by telephone, and written notice is returned through 
the mail as undeliverable, the District shall make a good faith effort to visit the 

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style:
a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
1.4" + Indent at:  1.65"

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.65",  No bullets or
numbering

Formatted

27



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

residence and leave, or make arrangements for placement in a conspicuous 
place of, a notice of imminent discontinuation of residential service for non-
payment and the District’s water system’s policy for discontinuation of 
residential service for non-payment.  

 
C. The following process will be followed prior to a discontinuance of non-residential 

water service for non-payment:  
 

At least fifteen (15) days before discontinuing such a water service the 
District shall provide written notice which shall specify the reason for the 
proposed discontinuance and inform the customer of the procedure for and 
the availability of the opportunity to discuss the reason for the proposed 
discontinuance with the General Manager or the General Manager's 
designee, who is empowered to review disputes and rectify errors and 
settle controversies pertaining to such proposed discontinuance of service. 
The name and phone number of the General Manager or the General 
Manager's designee, shall be included in any such notice of proposed 
discontinuance given to the customer. 
 

D. No water service shall be discontinued to any customer because of any delinquency in 
payment on any Friday, Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or at any time during which 
the business office of the District is not open to the public. 
 

E. Every complaint or request for investigation by a residential customer that is made 
within five (5) days of receiving the disputed bill for water service and every request 
by a residential customer that is made within fifteen (15) days of the mailing of the 
notice required by section B of this rule for an extension of the payment period of 
such a bill asserted to be beyond the means of the customer to pay in full during the 
normal period for payment shall be reviewed by the General Manager or the General 
Manager's designee. The review shall include consideration of whether the customer 
shall be permitted to amortize the unpaid balance of the account over a reasonable 
period of time, not to exceed nine (9) months. Any customer whose complaint or 
request for an investigation has resulted in an adverse determination by the General 
Manager or the General Manager's designee may appeal the determination to the 
Board of Directors. 
 

F. The General Manager or the General Manager's designee is authorized to investigate 
complaints and to review disputes pertaining to water service disconnections and to 
rectify errors and settle controversies pertaining to such matters and disputes. The 
General Manager or the General Manager's designee is also authorized to amortize 
one unpaid balance at a time for any account over a reasonable period of time. The 
General Manager may bring any such controversies to the Board of Director for 
settlement by the Board. 
 

G. The General Manager or the General Manager's designee is authorized to discontinue 
service to a residential customer with an amortization agreement if the customer fails 
to keep the account current as charges accrue in each subsequent billing period. The 
District shall not discontinue such service without giving notice to the customer at 
least forty- eight (48) hours prior to discontinuance of the conditions the customer is 
required to meet to avoid discontinuance. Such notice does not entitle said customer 
to further investigation by the District. 

 
SEC. 7.02. Reconnection. Failure to receive bill does not relieve Customer of liability. Any 
amount due shall be deemed a debt to the District and any person, firm or corporation failing, 

28



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service 15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

neglecting or refusing to pay said indebtedness shall be liable to an action in the name of the 
District in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

SEC. 7.03. Reconnection Charge. A reconnection charge plus penalties as applicable, shall be 
made and collected prior to renewing service following an initial discontinuance or suspension. 
Service reconnection shall also require the payment of all charges currently due in addition to the 
reconnection charges. An additional deposit will be required for water only customers or a larger 
deposit will be required of water/sewer accounts that have begun new service, reconnected or 
with an outstanding balance remaining from a previous SCSD service. Reconnection charges and 
penalties shall be as shown on the rate schedule. 

The SCSD will limit the amount of a reconnection fee and waive interest charges on delinquent 
bills for a residential customer who demonstrates to the district a household income below 200% 
of the federal poverty line.  

The District shall report the number of annual discontinuations of residential service for inability 
to pay on its website, and to the Board of Directors.   

SEC.7.04. Unsafe Apparatus. Water service may be refused or discontinued to any premises 
where apparatus or appliances are in use which might endanger or disturb the service to other 
customers. 

SEC. 7.05. Cross-Connections. Water service may be refused or discontinued to any premises 
where there exists a cross-connection in violation of state or federal laws. 

SEC. 7.06. Fraud or Abuse. Service may be discontinued if necessary to protect the District 
against fraud or abuse. 

SEC. 7.07. Non-Compliance with Regulations. Service may be discontinued for non-
compliance with this or any other ordinance or regulation relating to the water service. 

SEC. 7.08. Upon Vacating Premises. Customers desiring to discontinue service should so 
notify the District two (2) days prior to vacating the premises. Unless discontinuance of service 
is ordered, the customer(s) shall be liable for charges whether or not any water is used. 

SEC.7.09. Returned Check Fee. The District shall charge the full returned payment fee, plus 
penalty, each time a customer's payment is rejected by that customer’s financial institution. 
Returned check fees plus penalty shall be as shown on the rate schedule. 

CHAPTER 8 - COLLECTION BY SUIT 

SEC. 8.01. Penalty. Water rates and charges which are not paid on or before the day of 
delinquency shall be subject to a penalty of ten percent (10%) and thereafter shall be subject to a 
further penalty of two percent (2%) per month on the first day of each month following. 

SEC. 8.02. Suit. All unpaid water rates and charges and penalties herein provided may be 
collected by suit, collection agency, or other method as determined by District. 

SEC. 8.03. Costs. Defendant shall pay all costs of suit in any judgment rendered in favor of 
District. 

SEC. 8.04. Collection by Interagency Intercept Program. As an alternate to any of the other 
procedures herein provided, the District may collect unpaid user fees and charges through the 

29



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service 15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

State of California Interagency Intercept Program or other collection agency as determined by 
the District. Upon submitting an unpaid charge to the collection agency, SCSD will also notify 
the customer at the last known customer address. Customers may appeal said submittal by filing 
an appeal with the District. 

CHAPTER 9 - PUBLIC FIRE PROTECTION 

SEC.9.01. Use of Fire Hydrants. Fire hydrants are for use by the District or by organized fire 
protection agencies pursuant to contract with the District. Other parties desiring to use fire 
hydrants for any purpose must first obtain written permission from the District prior to use and 
shall operate the hydrant in accordance with instructions issued by the District. The District will 
install a hydrant meter with a control valve. Unauthorized use of hydrants will be prosecuted 
according to law. 

SEC.9.02. Moving of Fire Hydrants. When a fire hydrant has been installed in the location 
specified by the proper authority, the District has fulfilled its obligation. If a property owner or 
other party desires a change in size, type or location of the hydrant, they shall bear all costs of 
such changes, without refund. Any change in the location of a fire hydrant must be approved by 
the District. 

CHAPTER 10 - PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION SERVICE 

SEC. 10.01. Payment of Cost. The applicant for private fire protection service shall pay the 
total actual cost of installation of the service from the distribution main to the customer's 
premises, including the cost of a detector check meter or other suitable and equivalent device, 
valve and meter box. Said installation to become the property of the applicant. The District shall 
inspect and approve all private fire protection systems. 

SEC. 10.02. No Connection to Other System. There shall be no connections between this fire 
protection system and any other water distribution system on the premises. 

SEC. 10.03. Use. There shall be no water used through the fire protection service except to 
extinguish fires and for testing the firefighting equipment. 

SEC. 10.04. Meter Rates. Any consumption recorded on the meter will be charged for at 10 
times the regular service rates except that no charge will be made for water used to extinguish 
fires where such fires have been reported to the District. 

SEC. 10.05. Monthly Rates. The monthly rates for private fire protection lines shall be as 
specified in the rate schedule. 

SEC. 10.06. Water for Fire Storage Tanks. Occasionally water may be obtained from a private 
fire service for filling a tank connected with the fire service, but only if written permission is 
secured from the District in advance and an approved means of measurement is available. The 
regular water rates will be applied. 

SEC. 10.07. Violation of Agreement. If water is used from a private fire service in violation of 
the agreement or of these regulations, the District may, at its option, discontinue and remove the 
service. 

SEC.10.08. Water Pressure and Supply. The District assumes no responsibility for loss or 
damage due to lack of water or pressure, either high or low, and merely agrees to furnish such 

30



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

quantities and pressures as are available in its general distribution system. The service is subject 
to shutdowns and variations required by the operation of the system. 
 
SEC. 10.09. Fire Services. The following rules shall apply to fire service connections: 
 
 A. Valve. When a fire service connection is installed, the valve governing same will 

be closed and sealed and remain so until a written order is received from the owner of 
the premises to have the water turned on; 

 
 B. Meter. If the District has not required a meter, and if water is used through a fire 

service connection for any other purpose than extinguishing of fires, it shall have the 
right to place a meter on the fire service connection at the owner's expense, or shut off 
the entire water supply from such premises; 

 
 C. Additional Service. The District shall have the right to take a domestic, 

commercial or industrial service connection from the fire service connection at the 
curb to supply the same premises as those to which the fire service connection 
belongs. The Board of Directors shall also have the right to determine the proportion 
of the installation cost properly chargeable to each service connection, if such 
segregation of costs shall become necessary. 

 
 D. Check Valve. The District reserves the right to install on all fire service 

connections a check valve of a type approved by the National Board of Fire 
Underwriters, and to equip the same with a by-pass meter at the expense of the owner 
of the property. 

 
 

CHAPTER 11 - TEMPORARY SERVICE 
 
SEC. 11.01. Duration of Service. Temporary service connections shall be disconnected and 
terminated within six (6) months after installation unless an extension of time is granted in 
writing by the District. 
 
SEC. 11.02. Deposit. The applicant shall deposit in advance, the estimated cost of installing and 
removing the facilities required to furnish said service, exclusive of the cost of salvageable 
materials. Upon discontinuance of service, the actual cost shall be determined and an adjustment 
made as an additional charge, refund or credit. If service is supplied through a fire hydrant, the 
applicant will be charged in accordance with the rate schedule: 
 
SEC. 11.03. Installation and Operation. All facilities for temporary service to the customer 
connection shall be made by the District and shall be operated in accordance with its instructions. 
 
SEC. 11.04. Responsibility for Meters and Installations. The customer shall use all possible 
care to prevent damage to the meter or to any other loaned facilities of the District which are 
involved in furnishing the temporary service from the time they are installed until they are 
removed, or until 48 hours’ notice in writing has been given to the District that the contractor or 
any other person is through with the meter or meters and the installation. If the meter or other 
facilities are damaged, the cost of making repairs shall be paid by the customer or deducted from 
the amount of the deposit. 
 
SEC. 11.05. Supply from Fire Hydrant. An applicant for temporary use of water from a fire 
hydrant must secure a permit from the District and pay the regular fee charged for the installation 
and removal of a meter to be installed on the hydrant; and pay for the water used in accordance 
with the meter readings, at the rates prescribed by the District. 

31



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service  15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

 
SEC. 11.06. Unauthorized Use of Hydrants. Tampering with any fire hydrant for the 
unauthorized use of water therefrom or for any purpose is a misdemeanor punishable by law. 
 
SEC.11.07. Short Term Processing Fee. A property owner may set up a short-term water 
account to purchase up to 500 cubic feet of water for use at an existing meter for up to a two-
week period by paying a non-refundable fee as shown on the rate schedule. The property owner 
may extend the time period and/or consumption limit by paying an additional non-refundable 
processing fee for each additional increment of time and/or consumption. The District will bill 
the customer for all water consumption over the 500 cubic foot consumption limit in any two-
week period at the then current water rates. 
 
SEC.11.08. Bulk Water Sales. The General Manager may sell water to water transporters who 
have first secured a permit for subsequent individual bulk sales in a specified transport vehicle. 
The General Manager shall charge the water transporter by truckload for the rated volume 
capacity of the transport vehicle based on the rate schedule. Each truckload will be charged a 
processing fee per load of water. Truckloads to be used inside the District boundaries will pay 
for the cost of water at current rates based on the capacity of the water transport vehicle. 
Truckloads to be used outside of District boundaries will pay for the cost of water at one and 
one-half (1.5) times the cost of water at current rates. 
 
 

CHAPTER 12 - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
SEC. 12.01. Pools and Tanks. When an abnormally large quantity of water is desired for filling 
a swimming pool or for other purposes, arrangements must be made with the District prior to 
taking such water. Permission to take water in unusual quantities will be given only if it can be 
safely delivered through the District's facilities and if other Customers are not inconvenienced 
thereby. 
 
SEC. 12.02. Responsibility for Equipment. The customer shall, at their own risk and expense, 
furnish, install and keep in good and safe condition all equipment that may be required for 
receiving, controlling, applying and utilizing water, and the District shall not be responsible for 
any loss or damage caused by the improper installation of such equipment, or the negligence or 
wrongful act of the customer or of any of their tenants, agents, employees, contractors, licensees, 
or permittees in installing, maintaining, operating or interfering with such equipment. 
 
SEC. 12.03. Service Outside District. Where possible, potential customers outside the District 
shall annex before service is allowed if their property is contiguous to the District boundary or if 
the Board considers it to be in the best interest of the District. In addition to all other costs for 
providing service, the applicant shall be charged for the annexation proceedings. Where in the 
opinion of the Board, annexation is not feasible or desirable immediately upon application, the 
Board may elect to provide service outside of the District in accordance with state law. The 
terms and conditions of service shall be the same as in District except charges for water shall be 
150% of the rates specified in this Ordinance. In addition, the applicant, their heirs or assigns 
must agree not to protest annexation if initiated at a later time. 
 
SEC. 12.04. Water Conservation. Starting in Fiscal Year 2015-16 and in every year thereafter, 
the District shall conform with all local, state and federal requirements. 
 
 
 
  

32



SCSD Ordinance No.20198-2 Water Service 15 
DecemberNovember 915, 20198 

Section 2: Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this chapter is 
for any reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional, the decision shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of the Chapter. The Board of Directors hereby declares that it would have 
passed this Chapter, and each section, subsection, sentence, clause and phrase thereof, 
irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases 
be declared invalid under law. 

Section 3: California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Determination. Under the 
Environmental Impact Report which was completed upon the formation of the Scotia 
Community Services District, a determination was made that the District would not result in a 
significant environmental impact. This ordinance is also exempt from the CEQA Guidelines 
pursuant to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines.  

Section 4: Limitation of Actions. Any action to challenge the validity or legality of any 
provision of this ordinance on any grounds shall be brought by court action commenced within 
ninety (90) days of the date of adoption of this ordinance. 

Section 5: This ordinance will take effect thirty (30) days after the date of its adoption. 

DATE:  , 20___ 

ATTEST: APPROVED: 

Clerk, Scotia Community Services District              President, Scotia Community Services District 

Clerk’s Certificate 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. ________, 
passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Scotia Community 
Services District, Humboldt County, California on the __________ day of 
___________________, 20____, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTENTIONS: 

Clerk, Scotia Community Services District 

33



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

Date: December 19, 2019 
To: Scotia CSD Board of Directors 
From: Leslie Marshall, GM and Jennifer McDonald, BC 
Subject: Master Fee Schedule FY 19/20 Update to comply with SB 998 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the Board review the changes to the SCSD Master 
Fee Schedule. 

ACTION: 

Motion to approve Scotia Community Services District’s FY19/20 Master Fee Schedule Update 

DISCUSSION: 

SCSD policy must be compliant with SB 998 no later than February 2020. This senate bill 
mandates that all agencies providing water service must incorporate updated specifications 
within written policy on the discontinuation of service for residential customers for non-
payment.  

Adaptations in the Water Ordinance 2019-2 Amending Ordinance 2015-2 Title II – Water 
Service will reflect most of the specifications of SB 998. Minor changes to the Master Fee 
schedule reflect requirements to address the following: 

• The number of days past the billing date (that a payment has not yet been received)
before a disconnect notice can be issued.

• Customers who demonstrate a household income that is below 200 percent of the federal
poverty level will have any interest charges waived.

• Reconnection fees shall not exceed the actual cost of the reconnection for customers that
demonstrate an annual household income that is below 200 percent of the federal poverty
line.

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None - May reduce revenue for any penalties reduced or waived. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

FY 19/20 Master Fee Schedule (draft, redline) 
F1d_Resolution 2019-21 Master Fee Schedule 

34



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 1 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

SCOTIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
FY 2019/2020 MASTER FEE SCHEDULE 

SECTION 1. WATER SYSTEM 

The following water system fees are applicable to the Scotia Community Services District 
(District).  

1. Existing Water Service Connection. Where the Developer has installed the new water
service line and the District will merely be installing a new meter, the fee shall be as follows:

New Meter Fees 
5/8 Inch (meter set only) $201.35 
3/4 Inch (meter set only) $266.04 
1 Inch (meter set only) $305.82 
Greater Than 1 Inch Special Quote 

2. Splitting/Relocating Water Service. The charge for splitting an existing water service
shall be the actual charge for material, labor, and equipment not to exceed the charges for
a new service. The charge for relocating an existing service shall be actual costs for
materials, labor, and equipment not to exceed charges for a new service less credit for
existing meter. Any related inspection costs will be charged on a time and materials basis.

3. Backflow Prevention Device Charges. Maintenance and testing of these devices is the
responsibility of the customer and shall be tested by a certified backflow tester. The
customer shall submit a copy of the test results annually. Failure to provide certified back-
flow test results as required shall result in the District providing the test and inspection at
the customer’s expense.

4. Water Hauler Fees and Charges. Charges for potable water shall be based on the 2019
Water Hauler Guidelines. Raw water will not be available for water hauler use or sale.

5. Temporary Construction Meters. A $40.00 meter setting fee will be charged for the
installation of this meter. There shall be imposed a monthly rate for the temporary service,
based on meter size in the table below and a charge for the quantity of water used at the
current flow in Section 1.7

6. Meter Tests – Deposit. If a customer desires to have the meter serving their premises
tested, they shall first deposit Thirty-Five Dollars ($35.00) and pay the actual cost to test
the meter.

7. Monthly Water Service Rates. A monthly rate for water service provided by the District
shall be as shown below.

35



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 2 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

A. Monthly Water Base Rate. The monthly base rate shall be determined by size of water 
meter and location of service.

B. Monthly Consumption Charge: The monthly quantity charge rate shall be charged per
100 cubic-feet (HCF) of water used.

C. Monthly Raw Water Charge: The Raw (non-potable) Water Rate shall be charged per
100 HCF of water used.

SECTION 2. WASTEWATER SYSTEM FEES 
The following sewer system fees are applicable to the Scotia Community Services District. 
1. Monthly Sewer Service Rates. The rates and minimum sewer service charges billed

monthly to customers within the service area of the District shall be as follows:

Wastewater Rates over the Initial 5-year Period 
FY 16/17 FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 

Base Rate (per EDU) $75.25 $76.38 $77.53 $78.69 $79.87 
Monthly Flow Rate 

Flow Rate (per 100 cf used) $4.11 $4.18 $4.24 $4.30 $4.37 
Monthly Strength Rate 

BOD (per lb) $0.3626 $0.3680 $0.3736 $0.3792 $0.3849 
TSS (per lb) $0.5414 $0.5495 $0.5578 $0.5661 $0.5746 

2. Special Sewer Discharge Permit. A $250.00 fee shall be collected on each special sewer
discharge permit that is processed and issued. There will be an additional charge for actual
gallons discharged to the public sewer system based on strength of discharged wastewater.

Water Rates over the Initial 5-year Period 
FY 16/17 FY 17/18 FY 18/19 FY 19/20 FY 20/21 

Monthly Base Rate per Meter Size 
5/8” $62.91 $63.86 $64.81 $65.79 $66.77 
¾” $94.37 $95.79 $97.23 $98.69 $100.17 
1” $157.28 $159.64 $162.03 $164.46 $166.93 

1 ½” $314.56 $319.28 $324.07 $328.93 $333.86 
2” $503.29 $510.84 $518.50 $526.28 $534.17 
3” $943.67 $957.83 $972.19 $986.78 $1,001.58 
4” $1,572.78 $1,596.37 $1,620.32 $1,644.62 $1,669.29 
6” $3,145.57 $3,192.75 $3,240.64 $3,289.25 $3,338.59 
8” $5,032.91 $5,108.40 $5,185.03 $5,262.81 $5,341.75 

Monthly Commodity Rate 
Treated Water 
(per 100 cf water 
used) 

$2.66 $2.70 $2.74 $2.78 $2.82 

Raw Water (per 
100 cf water used) $0.23 $0.23 $0.24 $0.24 $0.24 

36



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 3 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

SECTION 3. WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPOSITS AND MISCELLANEOUS 
CHARGES  

1. Security Deposits The following deposits shall be collected if a customer fails to meet the
District's guidelines for creditworthiness:

Security Deposits 
Type of Service Base Deposit Max. Deposit 
Single Family Residential 

Water & Sewer $100.00 $150.00 
Water only $ 50.00 $ 75.00 
Sewer only $ 50.00 $ 75.00 

Multi-family Units 
Water only/1st Unit $ 35.00 $150.00 

Additional Units $ 20.00 $100.00 
Water & sewer/1st Unit $ 50.00 $ 75.00 

Additional $ 40.00 $ 60.00 
Commercial 

Water & Sewer 2.5 times the Monthly Base Rate 
Water Only 2.5 times the Monthly Base Rate 
Sewer Only 2.5 times the Monthly Base Rate 

2. Security Deposit - Guidelines for Creditworthiness. A customer must meet one of the
following criteria to meet the District’s guideline for creditworthiness when considering an
alternative to the collection of a security deposit:

A. Prior service within the District showing timely payments within the previous two
(2) years, or

B. Produce a letter of credit from PG&E, or other recognized utility showing timely
payments for a period of one (1) year, or

C. Produce a positive rating report from a recognized credit reporting agency.

3. Monthly Billing. Utility accounts are billed monthly and due and payable upon
presentation and must be paid in full by the due date on the bill, 15 days from the billing
date. Any payment postmarked by the due date will be accepted as timely. If not paid in
full, the bill becomes delinquent 20 days (5-day grace period) after the billing date and will
be charged a 10% penalty. and a A disconnect warning will be mailed indicating a service
disconnection date if payment has not been received within 53 days past the billing date.
If payment in full is not received within 630 days of the billing date (410-day grace period), 
a final warning notice will be delivered/mailed/telephoned indicating the service
disconnection date for non-payment is imminent. Payment to restore service will include
all past due charges, current charges, late fee penalties, and a reconnection fee (plus
penalties) will be made and collected prior to renewing service following a discontinuance.

37



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 4 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

Customers that demonstrate a household annual income that is below 200 percent of the 
federal poverty level will have any interest charges waived.   

4. Account Initiation Charge. There shall be an initiation charge of Thirty-Five Dollars
($35.00) to set up an account for a new customer or change a location for a current
customer.

5. Reconnection Charge. A reconnection charge of Forty Dollars ($40.00) for the first
reconnection and Sixty-Five Dollars ($65.00) thereafter plus penalties will be made and
collected prior to renewing service following a discontinuance.
For customers demonstrating an annual household income below 200 percent of the federal
poverty line a reconnection of service fee for reconnection during normal operating hours
at forty dollars ($40), but not to exceed the actual cost of reconnection if it is less

65. Returned Checks. If a check tendered as payment for any rate or charge is returned to the
District uncollected, there shall thereupon become due an additional charge of Twenty
Dollars ($20.00).

76. Broken Lock Fee. If a service is locked and the lock is broken, a charge of Twenty-Five
Dollars ($25.00) shall be assessed to the customer in addition to any other fees or penalties. 

SECTION 4. WATER SHORTAGE EMERGENCY FINES AND PENALTIES 

1. Fines and Penalties. Except as otherwise provided by Board action, violations of any
provision of the District Code pertaining to water shortage emergency fines and penalties
shall be fined as follows:

Fines and Penalties 
Violation Classification Penalty 
First violation Infraction $ 10.00 
Second violation Infraction $ 30.00 
Third violation and subsequent 
violations within a 6-month period Misdemeanor $100.00 

SECTION 5. PARKS AND RECREATION FEES 

1. APPLICATION PROCESSING FEES. The District shall charge a fee to process all
applications for events as defined in the Parks and Recreation Ordinance.

APPLICATION PROCESSING FEES 
Application Processing Fees cover Staff time to Process Facility Use Permits. Application 
Processing Fees are non-refundable and must be submitted at the time a Facility Use Permit 
application is turned in, at least 30 days prior to the event. See event definitions in Title IV 
Chapter 9 Section 9.01.a. of the Parks and Recreation Ordinance. 

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

38



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 5 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

Large Scale Community Event $150 
Major Event  $150 
Minor Event  $100 
Expressive Event $100 

2. FACILITY USE DEPOSIT FEES. The District shall charge a deposit for events which
qualify and are defined as special events and require a Facility Use Permit as follows:

Events WITHOUT Alcohol - $250 deposit 
Events WITH Alcohol - $500 deposit 
Concert Rentals - $1,000 deposit 

Deposits are refundable provided there are not damages to the facility and the facility is clean, 
consistent with the Parks and Recreation Ordinance. Deposits will not be refunded if the 
reservation is cancelled less than 1 month prior to event. Half of deposit will be returned if 
District is able to rebook facility.  

3. FACILITY USE FEES. The District shall charge the following rates for use of a
District-owned facility for each use specified below:
Rental fees are due 30 days prior to event. All-day rate applies to hours between 8 a.m. and 1
a.m., including cleanup. Requests for extended hours are subject to City approval and additional
costs. Changes made to Facility Use Permit less than 30 days prior to event are subject to City
approval and may require additional charge. Any changes must be made in writing.

The “All Day Rate” shall be defined as a fee charged specifically for use of the Winema Theater 
and which includes access to the facility for greater than four (4) consecutive hours. 
The “Half-Day Rate” shall be defined as a fee charged specifically for use of the Winema 
Theater and which includes access to the facility for a maximum of four consecutive hours. 

WINEMA THEATER 
Private Citizen/Business $45.00/hour 
Half Day Rate  $176.00  ($44.00/hr) 
All Day Rate  $344.00 ($43.00/hr) 
Non-Profit Groups/Vendors $35.00/hour 
Commercial Events*  $450.00/day 
*Requires Event Host

SCOTIA MUSEUM 
Private Citizen/Business $35.00/hour 
Non-Profit Groups/Vendors $25.00/hour 

FIREMAN’S PARK 
Private Citizen/Business $25.00/hour 
Half Day Rate  $96.00  ($24.00/hr) 
All Day Rate  $184.00 ($23.00/hr) 
Non-Profit Groups/Vendors $15.00/hour 

39



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 6 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

Commercial Events*   $250.00/day 
*Requires Event Host 
 
PARKS 
Soccer Field    $28.00/hour 
Baseball Park 
 Baseball Field   $28.00/hour 
 Horseshoe Pit   $20 for 2 hours 
 Lighting   $26.00/hour 
 
4. EVENT SERVICES FEES. The District shall charge a fee of $35 per hour (unless 
overtime wages apply) for an event host for those events requiring such a host. The minimum 
charge shall be two hours. Other event service fees shall be determined each year and are based 
on the direct expense associated with providing said service. Such event fees shall be established 
and adopted by the Board.  
 
SPECIAL EVENT SERVICES 
 
Event Setup 
 Events with less than 100 persons $50.00 
 Events with 101-200 persons  $80.00 
 Events with more than 200 persons $105.00 
 
Event Cleanup 
 Events with less than 100 persons $100.00 
 Events with 101-200 persons  $125.00 
 Events with more than 200 persons $150.00 
 
 
SECTION 6. STORM DRAINAGE FEES 
 

1. INSPECTION FEES. The District is responsible to annually inspect all private 
facilities for any violation of the provisions of the Storm Drainage ordinance. Private 
facilities shall be responsible for the cost of inspection and any associated inspection 
costs including but not limited to testing.  

 
 
SECTION 7. DOCUMENT DUPLICATION AND DISTRIBUTION 
 
The following charges are hereby established for the photocopying and mailing of printed material 
(not applicable to news media and not applicable to allied agencies in case of police reports for 
investigative purposes):  
 
1. Photocopies. 
 
 A. Per 8 1/2" x 11" and legal size page:  

40



FY19/20 Fee Schedule Page 7 of 7 Resolution 2019-13 

Per 1-side page................. $0.10 
Per 2-side page................. $0.20 

B. Per 11" x 17" page: Per 1-side page................. $0.20 
Per 2-side page................. $0.40 

C. Per 24' x 36" page:  Per 1-side page................. $3.00 

D. Conversion of Documents to Electronic Image: $2.00 plus $0.10/page

2. Copies of Video Tapes, Audio Tapes, CDs, DVDs. $3.00/each, plus actual cost for
duplication

3. Mailing. $2.00/each, plus actual postage cost

41



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-21 

RESOLUTION OF THE SCOTIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

REVISING THE MASTER FEE SCHEDULE 

WHEREAS, in an effort to achieve recovery of staff costs, it is necessary to establish 
fees charged by the Scotia Community Services District to provide services without adversely 
impacting the District’s service funds; and 

WHEREAS, in order to recover these costs, it is necessary to establish new fees through 
the Master Fee Schedule; and 

WHEREAS, as required by Article XIIID Sections 4 and 6(b) of the California 
Constitution, Districts can only charge rates or fees that are equal to or less than the reasonably 
anticipated costs of providing the service, conferring a benefit, granting a privilege, performing 
regulatory duties, enforcing laws, or as a condition of property development; and 

WHEREAS, the Scotia Community Services District Master Fee Schedule will be 
reviewed on an annual basis and adjusted accordingly; and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has determined that it is in the best interest of the 
District to adopt fees for District services. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED: 

1. The Scotia Community Services District Board of Directors hereby approves
establishing fees for District services pursuant to the Master Fee Schedule attached hereto as 
Exhibit "A" and made a part hereof by this reference. 

2. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption.

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED on the 19th day of December 2019, by the following 
vote of the governing body: 

APPROVED: ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
Paul Newmaker, Board President, Scotia CSD Board Clerk, Scotia CSD 

42



CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-21, passed and 
adopted at a special meeting of the Board of Directors of the Scotia Community Service District, 
County of Humboldt, State of California, held on the 19th day of December 2019, by the following 
vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTENTIONS: 

___________________________________ 
Board Clerk, Scotia CSD 

Attached: Scotia Community Services District FY 2019/20 Master Fee Schedule 

43



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

Date: December 19, 2019 

To: Scotia CSD Board of Directors 

From: Leslie Marshall, GM  

Subject: Personnel Policies Update  

RECOMMENDATION:  

Staff recommends the Board review and adopt the Personnel Policies Update. 

ACTION: 

Motion to adopt Scotia Community Services District’s updated Personnel Policies. 

DISCUSSION: 

Section 3.2.2 has been updated to reflect workweek scheduling for water and wastewater 
operators specifically, including implications for overtime and holiday pay given augmented 
schedules differing from the typical 5-day 8 hour schedule Other minor administrative and 
formatting changes have also been made. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None  

ATTACHMENTS:  

Personnel Policies (draft) in redline to show changes. 
F1e_Resolution 2019-22 Personnel Policies and Procedures 

44



PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

OF THE 

SCOTIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

December November 195, 20198  

45



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 2 

SECTION 1.0 BASIS OF AUTHORITY 

1.1 Resolution No. 2016-1 dated 1/21/2016, Amended in Resolution No. 2017-12 dated 
12/14/2017, Amended in Resolution No. 2018-18 dated 11/15/18, Amended in 
Resolution No. 2019-21 dated 12/19/18 

1.2 Intent 

1.2.1 The purpose of the Scotia Community Services District (“SCSD”) Personnel 
Policies and Procedures document is to provide direction on all personnel issues in 
the SCSD. The Personnel Policies and Procedures will ensure consistent 
application of all personnel rules and regulations for all District employees. 

1.3 District Rights 

1.3.1 It is the exclusive right of SCSD, except as otherwise provided in these policies and 
procedures, to make all decisions of a managerial or administrative character, 
including but not limited to: 

1.3.2 Managing and directing its business and personnel. 

1.3.3 Managing, controlling, and determining the mission, its divisions, building 
facilities and operations. 

1.3.4 Creating, changing, combining or eliminating jobs, policies, divisions and facilities 
in whole or in part. 

1.3.5 Subcontracting or discontinuing work for economic or operational reasons. 

1.3.6 Specifying or assigning work requirements, including overtime. 

1.3.7 Scheduling working hours and shifts. 

1.3.8 Adopting rules of conduct and penalties for any violations. 

1.3.9 Taking whatever action necessary to prepare for, and to operate in, an emergency. 

1.3.10 Hiring, promoting, transferring, assigning, classifying positions, retaining 
employees, and suspending, demoting, discharging or taking disciplinary action 
against employees. 

1.3.11 Terminating, demoting or furloughing employees from duties for legitimate 
reasons. The General Manager may determine the order of layoff and those 
employees who will be affected based on the needs of the District. 

1.3.12 Determining the policies, standards, procedures, methods, means and personnel by 
which SCSD operations are to be conducted. 

1.3.13 Nothing in these policies and procedures shall be construed to interfere with the 
SCSD’s right to manage its operations in the most economical and efficient manner 
consistent with the best interests of all the citizens of SCSD. 

46



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  3 

SECTION 2.0 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY PROGRAM 

2.1 Equal Employment Opportunity Policies: It is the policy of the SCSD to comply with 
the spirit and letter of all laws prohibiting discrimination. The SCSD shall provide equal 
opportunity in the provision of programs, services, and employment opportunities. No 
person shall be discriminated against regarding recruitment, selection, appointment, 
training, promotion, retention, discipline, or other aspects of employment because of race, 
creed, color, religion, sex, marital status, ancestry, national origin, physical disability, 
mental disability, medical condition, age, political affiliation, sexual orientation, or other 
non-merit factors. 

2.1.1 Definitions 

Non-Discrimination: The following laws establish requirements for non-
discrimination in employment: 

a. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Title VII) prohibits employment 
discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

b. The Equal Pay Act of 1963 (EPA) protects men and women who perform 
substantially equal work in the same establishment from sex-based wage 
discrimination. 

c. The Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (ADEA) protects 
individuals who are 40 years of age or older. 

d. Title I and Title V of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA) 
prohibit employment discrimination against qualified individuals with 
disabilities in the private sector and in state and local governments. 

e. Sections 501 and 505 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 prohibit discrimination 
against qualified individuals with disabilities (who work in the federal 
government). 

f. The Civil Rights Act of 1991, among other things, provides monetary damages 
in cases of intentional employment discrimination. 

g. The California Fair Employment and Housing Act establishes the requirement 
for nondiscrimination in employment based on race, religion, creed, color, 
national origin, age (40 and over), ancestry, disability (mental and physical) 
including HIV and AIDS, medical condition (cancer and genetic 
characteristics), marital status, sex, sexual orientation, or denial of family and 
medical care leave. 

Discrimination in employment as prohibited by federal, state, and other directives 
includes but is not limited to: 

a. Exclusion from employment or work activities for non-job-related reasons. 

b. Verbal harassment; e.g., racial or ethnic slurs or epithets. 

c. Harassment of any kind initiated because of an individual's race, sex, age, 

47



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 4 

handicap, religion, or ethnicity. 

Sexual Harassment: Sexual harassment in any form will not be tolerated by the 
SCSD. Harassment based on sex is a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 
of 1964, as amended, and The Fair Employment and Housing Act, Government 
Code Section 12940. Sexual Harassment includes but is not limited to: 

a. Verbal harassment; e.g., graphic verbal comments about an individual's body,
suggestive letters or notes, swearing, cursing, derogatory comments, or slurs
that have a sexual connotation.

b. Physical harassment; e.g., touching, assault, impeding or blocking movement,
or any interference with normal work or movement when directed sexually at
an individual.

c. Visual forms of harassment; e.g., sexual gestures, derogatory or sexually
suggestive posters, cartoons, or drawings of a sexual nature.

d. Quid pro quo: conditioning an employment offer or benefit upon an exchange
of sexual favors.

e. Sexual advances or harassment which interferes with an individual's work
performance or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working
environment.

2.2 Sexual and Other Harassment Policies 

2.2.1 It is the policy of the SCSD to provide a workplace free of harassment. Harassment 
is prohibited, is considered an act of misconduct and may result in disciplinary 
action up to and including termination. This policy applies to all the SCSD's 
employees and agents, including supervisory and non-supervisory employees. All 
supervisors and managers are responsible for implementing and monitoring 
compliance with this policy. 

2.2.2 Harassment is defined as unwelcome or unsolicited verbal, physical, sexual, or 
visual conduct which is made a term or condition of employment; is used as the 
basis for employment decisions; or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive 
working environment. Examples of what may be considered harassment, 
depending on the facts and circumstances, include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

a. Verbal harassment: Derogatory or vulgar comments regarding a person's race,
sex, gender, age, religion, ethnic heritage, national origin, disability, or other
classifications protected by law; verbal abuse of a sexual nature; graphic verbal
commentaries about an individual's body; sexually degrading words used to
describe an individual; suggestive or obscene letters, notes or invitations.

b. Physical harassment: Hitting, pushing, touching, assaulting, impeding or
blocking movement or other aggressive physical conduct, or threats to take such 
action.

c. Sexual harassment: Unwelcome or unsolicited sexual advances, demands for

48



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  5 

sexual favors, or other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature. Sexual 
harassment includes, but is not limited to, making unwanted sexual advances 
and requests for sexual favors where either (1) submission to such conduct is 
made an explicit or implicit term or condition of employment; (2) submission 
to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for 
employment decisions affecting such individual; or (3) such conduct has the 
purpose or effect of substantially interfering with an individual's work 
performance or creating an intimidating, hostile or offensive working 
environment. 

d. Visual harassment: leering, making sexual gestures, displaying sexually 
suggestive objects, pictures, cartoons, posters, or other writing or graphic 
materials. 

2.2.3 Any employee who has a complaint of harassment at work involving anyone, 
including supervisors, co-workers, or visitors, should promptly notify the General 
Manager.  

2.2.4 Supervisors who become aware of any harassment, whether it involves employee-
to-employee, employee-to-supervisor or supervisor-to-employee conduct, must 
promptly report the matter to the General Manager. If supervisors observe such 
harassment, they should take immediate action to stop it and report it to the General 
Manager. 

2.2.5 Special privacy safeguards will be applied in handling all harassment complaints. 
All employees should be aware that the privacy of the charging party and the person 
accused of harassment will be, to the extent practicable, kept confidential. The 
SCSD will take appropriate corrective action, up to and including termination of 
employment, to remedy all violations of this policy. 

The SCSD strictly prohibits any form of retaliation against anyone who complains 
of harassment to management. 

2.3 Gender Discrimination Policy Statement: The SCSD is committed to equal employment 
opportunity for all employees and applicants for employment without regard to an 
individual's gender or other non-merit factors. Applicants of all genders will be recruited 
for all vacancies. 

Employees of all genders shall have equal opportunity to any available job that they are 
qualified to perform. No distinction shall be made between genders in compensation, 
benefits, or other conditions of employment. 

2.4 Religion and National Origin Policy Statement: The SCSD is committed to providing 
equal employment opportunity and shall not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of religion, national origin, or other non-merit factor. 
The SCSD shall make reasonable accommodations to the religious observances and 
practices of employees or prospective employees when such accommodation can be made 
without undue hardship on the conduct of business. Business necessity, costs or expenses, 
and any resulting personnel problems will be considered when deciding on reasonable 
accommodation. 

49



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  6 

2.5 Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) Policy Statement: It is the policy of the SCSD 
to comply with the ADA and all other laws that prohibit discrimination. The SCSD shall 
hire otherwise qualified applicants who can perform the essential functions of the job 
without regard to an individual's physical or mental disability. The SCSD shall reasonably 
accommodate the physical or mental disabilities of employees or applicants who are 
otherwise qualified unless the accommodation would impose an undue hardship. 

2.6 Equal Employment Opportunity Program Details 

2.6.1 Responsibilities: To ensure equal employment opportunity for all individuals, the 
SCSD has designated specific responsibilities to various staff members. The 
following positions shall undertake the responsibilities described below. 

SCSD Board of Directors: The Board has the ultimate responsibility for setting a 
climate in which equal employment opportunity goals can be achieved through the 
establishment of policy and supporting programs. 

General Manager: The General Manager has overall responsibility for all Equal 
Employment Opportunity Issues and compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act. The General Manager shall ensure that the organization's policies 
of equal opportunity are effectively implemented at all levels of the organization.  

Managers and Supervisors: Each manager and supervisor shall ensure that the 
SCSD's policy of equal employment opportunity is implemented in the unit and 
shall: 

a. Assure compliance with Equal Employment Opportunity/Affirmative Action 
and Americans with Disabilities Act programs and policies in their divisions. 

b. Assist in developing and implementing Equal Employment 
Opportunity/Affirmative Action and Americans with Disabilities Act 
programs. 

c. Ensure that the SCSD's policies and programs are communicated and upheld by 
all unit employees. 

d. Develop and implement equal employment in response to identified 
deficiencies in the divisions. 

e. Cooperate in the investigation and resolution of discrimination complaints. 

f. Ensure that all recruitments, interviews, offers of employment, development 
programs, transfers, job assignments, promotions, and separations are 
consistent with the SCSD’s Equal Employment Opportunity policy. 

Employees: Employees shall adhere to and support Equal Employment 
Opportunity policies and procedures and the Americans with Disabilities Act via 
their actions and behaviors. 

The EEOP can be contacted for additional information or support at (916)227-2859 
or at workplacefairness.org.  

50



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 7 

2.7 Complaint Process 

2.7.1 Complaint Process: This section states the SCSD's policy, guidelines, and 
procedures regarding discrimination and sexual harassment. 

The SCSD's policy is to provide a work environment free from any type of 
discrimination and sexual harassment. Discrimination and sexual harassment are 
illegal and will not be tolerated by the SCSD. Appropriate disciplinary action, 
including the possibility of termination, will be taken against employees found 
responsible for discrimination or sexual harassment, and against supervisors who 
allow such practices to continue. 

The SCSD will not discriminate against or harass any employee for filing a 
complaint. Employees, supervisors or managers who retaliate against an employee 
for filing a complaint are in violation of this policy. 

2.7.2 Process for Resolving Complaints: The SCSD encourages employees to try to 
resolve their complaints informally within their divisions before considering a 
formal complaint. However, employees may file a formal complaint without going 
through the informal complaint process. 

2.7.3 Date of Occurrence: The date and time that an employee realizes that he or she 
has been discriminated against or sexually harassed. The date of occurrence is an 
important factor in the investigation process. 

2.7.4 Informal Complaint Process: An employee who believes that he or she is being 
discriminated against or sexually harassed by a co-worker or supervisor is 
encouraged to: 

a. Confront whoever is doing the discriminating or harassing in a polite but firm
manner. The employee should state how he or she feels about what is occurring.

b. Request the person to stop the discriminating/harassing behavior because it is
intimidating, offensive, and/or uncomfortable. If possible, the employee should 
bring a witness for this discussion.

c. Write a statement for the employee's own records about the incident, noting the
date of occurrence, time, and other details; summarize in writing the results of
any conversation(s) with the person who is doing the discriminating/harassing.
This information may be important if there is a formal investigation later.

If the discrimination or harassment continues and has not been resolved in the daily 
work environment, or if the employee does not wish to confront the person doing 
the discriminating or harassing, the employee is encouraged to present the 
complaint as follows: 

a. If a co-worker perpetrates the discrimination or harassment, the employee
should present the complaint to his or her supervisor.

b. If the employee’s supervisor perpetrates the discrimination or harassment, the
employee should present the complaint to the next level of management.

51



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  8 

c. If the employee does not feel comfortable with the above, or if the supervisor 
or manager would be the General Manager, he or she should present the 
complaint to the SCSD Board of Directors. The supervisor or next level of 
management will attempt to resolve the issue with an objective, confidential 
investigation to begin within three working days of the date of the employee 
contact. 

A written response will be given to the employee within fifteen (15) working days 
of the date of the employee contact. 

2.7.5 Formal Complaint Process: If the employee chooses to bypass the informal 
complaint process, a formal complaint shall be made no later than 10 days after the 
employee should reasonably have been aware of the alleged act of discrimination 
or harassment. 

If the complaint is not resolved through the informal complaint process, a formal 
complaint should be made as soon as possible, but not later than 45 days after the 
employee should reasonably have been aware of the alleged act of discrimination 
or harassment, or if the employee chooses to bypass the informal complaint process, 
then a formal complaint may be presented in one of two ways: 

a. In writing to the General Manager (or to the SCSD Board of Directors if the 
complaint is against the General Manager) 

b. Orally to the General Manager (or to the SCSD Board of Directors if the 
complaint is against the General Manager) 

Within five (5) working days of receiving the complaint, the General Manager (or 
if the complaint is against the General Manager, the SCSD Board of Directors) will 
appoint an investigator to conduct a thorough and impartial inquiry. The 
investigation shall be kept as confidential as legally allowed. 

The investigator will interview the parties involved and complete a written report 
including recommended course of action for the General Manager (or SCSD Board 
of Directors) within a timely manner of receiving the complaint. The General 
Manager (or SCSD Board of Directors) may extend the time required for 
completion of the investigation if there are extenuating circumstances. 

Within five (5) working days of receiving the recommendation, the General 
Manager (or SCSD Board of Directors) will take appropriate action to resolve the 
complaint within (10) working days of receiving the report. 

The employee who initiated the complaint will be notified of the decision through 
his or her manager unless the complaint was against the manager, in which case, 
the General Manager will contact the employee. If the complaint was against the 
General Manager, the Board of Directors will contact the employee. 

 

  

52



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  9 

SECTION 3.0 PERSONNEL POLICIES 

3.1 Classes of Employment: Employment classifications shall be included in each job 
description and may include, but shall not be limited to, the following: 

3.1.1 Regular Full-Time Employee: An employee who is appointed to a regular, 
allocated position, regularly scheduled to work eighty (80) hours per bi-weekly pay 
period. 

3.1.2 Regular Part-Time Employee: An employee who is appointed to a regular, 
allocated position, regularly scheduled to work at least thirty (30) hours per bi-
weekly pay period, but not more than 1,040 hours per calendar year and whose 
employment is anticipated to exceed 6 months in duration. 

3.1.3 Part-time Extra Help Employee: An employee who is appointed to a position to 
work less than thirty (30) hours per bi-weekly pay period and whose employment 
is anticipated to exceed 3 months in duration. Such employees do not receive any 
leave, health insurance, or other benefits, except those required by law. 

3.1.4 Seasonal Employee: An employee who is appointed to a position which is either 
seasonal in nature (not to exceed six months in a calendar year) and recurs year to 
year, or who covers peak workloads, regular employee absences, or a vacant 
position for a period not to exceed nine months. Such employees do not receive any 
leave, health insurance, or other benefits except those required by law. 

3.2 Working Hours / Pay Information 

3.2.1 Work Hours: The SCSD shall establish regular work hours for each employee. 
The General Manager may change working hours of individual employees to 
accommodate the functional needs of the SCSD. Alternate work schedules may be 
authorized by the General Manager provided the alternate schedule does not disrupt 
or interfere with business operations and service to customers. Employees on 
alternate work schedules may be required to alter such schedule to cover for 
absences of other staff members. When possible, forty-eight (48) hours advanced 
notice shall be provided for change in working hours. For the purposes of pay, hours 
worked include all the time during which an employee is required to be on the 
employer’s premises, on duty, or at a prescribed work placeworkplace. 

 Employees are required to track their time as directed by the General Manager, 
including utilizing a time clock if available. 

3.2.2 Workweek: The workweek is Sunday through Saturday, except that the General 
Manager may specify an alternate workweek period for any employee. The base 
compensation for employees shall be deemed to be compensation per bi-weekly 
pay period and is predicated upon a forty (40) hour workweek for full-time 
employees. A bi-weekly pay period shall consist of eighty (80) working hours for 
full-time employees and the base compensation provided shall be payment in full 
for all services rendered to the SCSD except as otherwise provided.  

For Water and Wastewater Operators specifically, Ttypical work week will be five 
(5) 8-hour shifts during non-daylight savings time, and four (4) 10-hour shifts 

53



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 10 

during daylight savings time, unless otherwise specified by the General Manager. 
Weekend shift hours will be a two (2) hour maximum, unless under approved 
circumstances, or under emergency circumstances approved by the General 
Manager.  

For the augmented four (4) 10-hour work schedule, holidays listed in the policy 
section 4.2.3 that fall on non-regularly scheduled workdays will be paid holiday 
time for the full hour workday. Any actual hours worked will be paid as overtime, 
as specified in section 4.2.2.  

3.2.3 Workplace Assignment: The place of work and division to which an employee is 
assigned shall be determined by the General Manager or designee, who may also 
reassign the employee at any time to a different workplace, or division. 

3.2.4 Determination of Rates of Pay: For all District positions, the appropriate pay 
range shall be approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may 
from time to time authorize changes in rates of pay. Wage adjustments may be 
considering factors such as the minimum wage, cost of living index, and other labor 
market data. 

3.2.5 Advances: Advances in pay are not permitted. 

3.2.6 Rest and Meal Breaks: During a regular eight (8) hour shift, a 30-minute unpaid 
off duty meal period will be provided. This meal period shall begin no later than by 
the end of the employees fifth hour of work. If an employee works more than ten 
(10) hours, a second unpaid off duty meal break must be provided no later than the
end of the tenth (10th) hour of work. In addition, any employee who works at least
4 hours shall have a mandatory ten (10) minute paid rest break. These 10-minute
paid breaks shall be offered for every four (4) hours worked. Also, any employee
wishing to express breast milk shall be accommodated as detailed in Labor Code
§1030. Time allowed for rest periods may not be accumulated from one half of the
workday to another, nor may rest periods be used to alter an employee’s normal
work hours and meal periods.

Meal Breaks must be taken at an off-site location or in an area designated by the 
General Manager.  For health and safety reasons, employees shall not be allowed 
to eat at their desks. 

3.2.7 Overtime: There are certain periods where overtime may be necessary. The 
General Manager or designee may require overtime work. All employees are 
expected to work overtime when deemed necessary, but may not work overtime 
without the specific authorization of the General Manager or designee.  

Hours of work, in these Personnel Policies and Procedures and for purposes of 
determining overtime eligibility, means only those hours that an employee is at 
their assigned place of work, being compensated for these hours by SCSD and 
performing their assigned duties at the direction of the General Manager or 
designee. Hours of work, for purposes of determining overtime eligibility, does not 
include any compensated or uncompensated leave time, including holidays. 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"

54



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 11 

All Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) non-exempt employees shall be eligible for 
overtime compensation when: 

a. An employee who works more than forty (40) hours in any fixed and regularly
recurring period of 168 hours or seven consecutive 24-hour periods (“week”);

b. An employee who, because of shift changes, works two (2) or more shifts in
any twenty-four (24) hour period and is off duty less than eight (8) hours
between shifts. In such case, the employee shall be compensated for any
additional shift(s) in the same manner as for other overtime notwithstanding the
above.

c. All approved overtime, including emergency overtime, will be provided at a
rate of one-and-one-half hours for each overtime hour worked. SCSD will allow 
overtime as cash.

FLSA non-exempt employees whose normal workweek varies from the normal five 
(5) days in a calendar week of seven (7) days shall not be eligible for overtime
compensation except as described above.

Employees who are employed in classifications eligible for exemption from the 
overtime provisions of the FLSA and designated by the SCSD Board of Directors 
to be salaried are exempt from the overtime provisions of the FLSA.  

3.2.8 Absenteeism and Tardiness: Regular attendance is necessary to ensure adequate 
service to customers and to avoid overburdening coworkers. Employees must 
notify the General Manager or immediate supervisor promptly, but in no case later 
than thirty (30) minutes before the start of the work period, if he or she is going to 
be absent or late for work.  

3.2.9 Discipline: The SCSD reserves the right to terminate any employee with cause at 
any time. Cause may include, but is not limited to: 

a. Incompetence or inefficiency in the performance of the duties of the
position;

b. Insubordination, including but not limited to, refusal to do assigned work or 
refusal to follow directives;

c. Carelessness or negligence in the performance of duty or in the care or use
of SCSD property;

d. Discourteous, offensive, or abusive conduct or language toward other
employees or the public;

e. Dishonesty;
f. Drinking alcoholic beverages or the illegal use or possession of a controlled

substance on the job, or reporting to work while under the influence of an
alcoholic beverage or a controlled substance;

g. Involvement in a work relatedwork-related accident while under the
influence of an alcoholic beverage or a controlled substance;

h. Conviction of any crime involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude, for the 
purpose of employee discipline, will be defined as: fraud, dishonesty,

Formatted: Highlight

55



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 12 

serious sexual offenses, embezzlement, theft, falsification of records, 
extortion, or other acts contrary to justice, honesty or morality; 

i. Repeated and unexcused absences or tardiness;
j. Abuse of the sick leave policy;
k. Falsification of any information supplied to the SCSD;
l. Persistent violation or refusal to obey safety rules and regulations;
m. Offering of anything of value or offering any service in exchange for special 

treatment in connection with the employee’s job or employment, or the
accepting of anything of value for the granting of special treatment to
another employee or to any member of the public;

n. Willful or persistent violation of the directives of a supervisor or rules of
the SCSD;

o. Any willful failure of good conduct tending to injure the public service;
p. Abandonment of position;
q. Interfering with the work or progress of another employee;
r. Altercations;
s. Carrying a firearm or other dangerous weapons on SCSD property or while

conducting SCSD business;
t. Gambling on SCSD property or on SCSD business;
u. Sleeping on the job or leaving during work hours without authorization;
v. Conviction of any felony involving moral turpitude or conviction of any

felony involving the use, possession, sale or transporting of any illegal,
restricted, regulated or controlled substance or drug, including, but not
limited to, marijuana or any of its derivatives or extracts;

w. Unauthorized entry, copying, possession, use or viewing of personnel or
confidential files, documents or information;

x. Violation of the SCSD’s sexual harassment policy;
y. Failing to report any of these violations to the SCSD.

Employee discharge for poor performance or misconduct ordinarily will be preceded by an 
oral warning, a written warning, a suspension and/or demotion. 

SCSD reserves the right to proceed directly to a higher level of discipline, up to and 
including termination, for misconduct or performance deficiency, without resort to the prior 
disciplinary steps, when the SCSD deems such actions appropriate and necessary.   

3.2.10 Resignation: Two (2) weeks’ notice is customary and should be given unless 
circumstances make such notice impossible. Failure to provide sufficient notice 
may be considered grounds for ineligibility for rehire at a later date. The General 
Manager may approve resignations with less than two (2) weeks’ notice. 

3.3 Salary Administration 

3.3.1 Establishment of Job Classifications and Salary Schedules: The Board of 
Directors shall adopt classes and salary ranges, established by the General Manager. 
Salary ranges shall be reviewed as determined by the Board. Nothing shall require 
the Board to adopt a salary increase based solely on cost of living or market 

56



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 13 

analysis. 

3.4 Salary Steps and Payroll 

3.4.1 Minimum Wage: Federal and state minimum wage standards shall always be met. 

3.4.2 Salary Steps: The Board shall adopt a five-step pay range for each class. Initial 
appointment shall generally be at the first step of the range; the Board may 
authorize advanced step hiring for the General Manager; the General Manager may 
authorize that an allocated position be filled above the first step of the range, based 
on experience and qualifications.  

a. Annually, on an employee’s anniversary date, a regular full-time employee may 
be granted a step increase if performance is satisfactory and advancement is
recommended by the supervisor. The General Manager shall have the authority
at any time to increase or decrease the salary of any employee. Step increases
are not automatic. If an employee promotes to a higher class, the effective date
of the promotion shall become the employee's new review date.

b. Any part-time employee may be granted a step increase if performance
satisfactory and advancement is recommended by the supervisor after the
employee has worked 2,080 hours at their present step. Step increases are not
automatic, if an employee promotes to a higher class, the effective date of the
promotion shall become the employee's new review date.

3.4.3 Salary upon Promotion: Upon promotion, an employee appointed to a position 
with a higher salary range shall have his or her salary adjusted to the first step of 
the new range or to the step in the new range which is at least 5% higher than the 
salary the employee was receiving prior to the promotion, whichever is greater, 
provided that the new salary is within the new range. Any pay supplements received 
by the employee and which are a percentage of base salary (except above class pay 
and special assignment pay) shall be added to the pre-promotion base salary prior 
to determining the appropriate step in the new range. 

3.4.4 “Y” Rates: Whenever the effect of a reclassification is to place the incumbent in a 
class having a lower salary range, the General Manager may direct that the capital 
letter “Y” be set opposite the reclassified position in the division budget and all 
payroll and other personnel records. Whenever the “Y” is set opposite a position, 
the incumbent shall continue to receive his or her previously authorized salary until 
termination of employment in the position, or until a higher rate of pay may be 
authorized, whichever comes first. 

3.4.5 Salary upon Demotion: If an employee demotes through no fault of the employee, 
other than a voluntary demotion, the employee shall be “Y-rated” at the employee’s 
current salary and remain at that salary until the salary falls within the range for the 
employee’s demoted class. If an employee voluntarily demotes, the employee shall 
be placed at the highest step of the range that represents a reduction in pay. If an 
employee is demoted for failure to complete expected tasks following a promotion, 
the employee shall return to the step of the range the employee held prior to 
promotion, but may be granted any merit step increases that would have occurred 

57



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  14 

had the employee not accepted a promotion. If an employee is demoted for cause 
as a result of a disciplinary action, the employee shall be placed at the step of the 
range stated in the order of discipline. 

3.4.6 Special Assignment Supplement: The General Manager may authorize a 5% 
salary increase to any employee designated by the General Manager to be on special 
assignment. 

3.4.7 Receipt of Supplemental Pay: No employee shall receive supplemental pay when 
on vacation, sick leave, sick leave in conjunction with the receipt of State Disability 
Insurance or Worker’s Compensation temporary disability payments, 
compensatory time off, or holiday, unless such employee shall have been 
performing duties for a period of not less than four (4) full bi-weekly pay periods 
or such supplemental duties are scheduled, upon assignment, to last not less than 
four (4) full bi-weekly pay periods. 

3.4.8 Standby Pay: Standby pay is defined as on-call 24 hours per day for seven (7) 
consecutive days, physically able and ready to respond to any SCSD 
alarm/emergency to include, but not limited to, water treatment plant and 
distribution system, wastewater treatment plant and collection system, storm water 
drainage system, streets and street lighting system, and parks and recreation 
facilities issues. Individuals on standby must stay within a 30 minute30-minute 
response time to the district offices. 

Standby pay will be at a lower hourly rate for controlled standby time. Standby pay 
will be at a fixed rate of $100 per seven (7) day period, unless otherwise determined 
by the General Manager. 

3.4.9 Work Above Class: The General Manager or designee may temporarily assign any 
employee to perform duties normally assigned to a classification with a higher 
salary. If an employee is assigned to a classification with a higher salary range, the 
employee shall be compensated, at an amount equal to what the employee would 
receive if promoted to the higher class or 5% if no class exists. Employees who are 
being paid for working in a higher classification are not eligible for merit increases 
in the higher classification.  

3.4.10 License/Certificate Fee: The SCSD agrees to pay the cost of renewing state 
required licenses or certifications that are necessary for the employee, as 
determined by the General Manager, to fulfill the requirements of the job 
classification or the tasks assigned to the employee. The General Manager may also 
authorize the payment of professional organization dues or membership fees if the 
General Manager considers it in the best interest of employee development that 
may benefit SCSD. 

3.4.11 Paycheck Exceptions: A paycheck exception is defined as the incorrect reporting 
of payroll or failure to process the following payroll actions, causing an employee 
to receive less than the pay to which he or she is entitled for that pay period (i.e. 
step increase, supplemental pay, and overtime). Paycheck exceptions shall 
normally be paid no later than the following paycheck. 

58



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  15 

All payroll errors resulting in either gross or net salary overpayment must be repaid 
to the SCSD. Employees shall be allowed, at employee’s option, to use accrued 
annual and holiday leave to repay the SCSD in cases of payroll error resulting in 
gross salary overpayment as determined by the General Manager.  

3.4.12 Under-filling Positions Authorized in the Budget: Whenever a position is 
authorized in the budget as adopted by the Board of Directors, the General Manager 
may fill that position with either the job classification that appears in the budget or 
with a lesser appropriate job classification, provided the salary range is not greater 
than that of the job classification that appears in the budget. 

3.5 Personnel Records and Evaluations 

3.5.1 Personnel Records: The SCSD maintains all necessary personnel information. The 
employee must notify his or her supervisor of any changes in the following: 

a. Home address 

b. Home telephone number 

c. Marital status 

d. Beneficiary of Insurance  

e. Number of dependents  

f. Emergency contact 

Current employees of SCSD shall have the right to review and obtain copies of 
their personnel files. Employees shall be given an opportunity to read and initial 
any report or evaluation to be added to their personnel files, but an employee shall 
not be required to sign any such report. An employee’s signature on a report shall 
be understood to be acknowledgment of receipt and shall not be construed as 
agreement or disagreement with its content. If the employee refuses to sign any 
report or evaluation, a notation to that effect may be entered on the document. An 
employee shall have the right to submit written comments regarding any document 
in his or her personnel file and to have such comments included in his or her 
personnel file along with the document.  

3.5.2 Evaluations: Employee performance evaluations will be prepared by the 
employee’s supervisor (prior to the anniversary date of employment, prior to the 
granting of any step increase), and as may be determined by the General Manager 
or designee. Evaluation forms will be as designated by the General Manager. It is 
the employee’s supervisor who has the responsibility and authority to prepare the 
evaluation report. At the request of the employee, the supervisor will meet with the 
employee to discuss the evaluation prior to the supervisor completing the evaluation 
with his or her final signature. 

Except in cases of termination or leave of absence, evaluation with a rating of 
“unsatisfactory” shall receive a follow-up evaluation no more than ninety (90) days 
from the date of the final review of the initial unsatisfactory evaluation. 

59



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 16 

An employee shall have the right to submit written comments regarding any 
evaluation and to have such comments included in his or her personnel file along 
with the evaluation. 

3.6 Outside Employment: Outside employment cannot be in conflict with the employee's 
duties and/or responsibilities. An employee's work for the SCSD must not be adversely 
affected by any outside employment, as determined by the General Manager. In addition, 
it is the employee’s responsibility to avoid conflicts of interest under the Political Reform 
Act of 1974. 

3.7 Probationary Period: All new employees must complete to the SCSD satisfaction a 
probationary period of not less than twelve months. The probationary period begins on the 
initial day of work performed by the employee.  

During the probationary period, an employee may be discharged by the SCSD for any reason 
and with or without cause or advance notice. In the event of an illness or injury, with the 
exception of an industrial injury, requiring absence from work exceeding ten days, the 
number of days absent shall be added to the length of the probationary period.   

A performance review will be conducted by the employee’s supervisor before the 
completion of the twelve-month probationary period.  

Completion of the probationary period does not, however, guarantee employment for any 
specific duration.     

3.8 Call Back:  Call back time worked will qualify as overtime pay, at a minimum of two 
hours. 

SECTION 4.0 LEAVE 

4.1 General Leave Policy: The SCSD provides employees with paid and unpaid time off and 
leave options to cover illness, vacation, family emergencies, and other occurrences 
requiring time away from the job. Unless otherwise provided by law, all leave is granted 
at the discretion of the General Manager.  

No newly hired regular full-time employee shall be entitled to use benefits provided by this 
chapter until after he/she has completed their first full month of employment and 
completion of the individual eligibility requirements for any specific benefit. Credit to sick 
leave and vacation accrual benefits however, begins with the regular full-time employee’s 
initial date of hire. Regular part-time and temporary employees are not eligible for the 
benefits described in this chapter, except as specifically noted.  

Nothing herein is intended to extend rights, privileges or guarantees of employment status 
beyond those of at-will employment. 

4.2 Holidays 

4.2.1 Full-time and regular part-time employees become eligible for approved paid 

60



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  17 

holidays after completing one full month of employment. Regular full-time 
employees will be paid eight hours for each scheduled holiday. Regular part-time 
employees will be paid for the hours they normally work for the day which the 
holiday falls. 

4.2.2 Employees who work a holiday will be paid time and a half of the regular hourly 
rate for all hours worked on the holiday.  

4.2.3 All regular employees shall be entitled to the following paid holidays: 

a. New Year’s Day (January 1) 

b. Martin Luther King Day (3rd Monday in Jan.) 

c. President’s Day (3rd Monday in Feb.) 

d. Memorial Day (Last Monday in May) 

e. Independence Day (Fourth of July) 

f. Labor Day (First Monday in Sept.) 

g. Columbus Day (Second Monday in Oct.) 

h. Veteran’s Day (November 11) 

i. Thanksgiving Day (Fourth Thursday in Nov.) 

j. Friday after Thanksgiving 

k. Day before Christmas (1/2 Day) 

l. Christmas Day (December 25) 

4.2.4 When a holiday falls upon a Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be the holiday. 
When a scheduled holiday falls upon a Sunday, the following Monday shall be the 
holiday. 

4.2.5 Employees on authorized leave of absence, military, workers compensation, and 
medical leave at the time of holiday observance will be ineligible for holiday pay. 
If a holiday falls during an employee’s approved vacation period, the employee will 
be paid for the holiday and will not be charged with a vacation day for the day the 
holiday is observed. When computing overtime pay, full-time employees do not 
receive credit for hours paid on holidays that are not actually worked. 

4.3 Vacation 

4.3.1 The District encourages employees to use all accrued vacation benefits. Regular 
full-time and permanent part-time scheduled employees are eligible for paid 
vacation at the following accrual rates. Temporary employees will not accrue 
vacation time. Vacation is earned and accrued from the first day of employment at 
the following rate.  Permanent part-time employee (working a minimum of 20 hours 
a week) accrued vacation will be prorated. 

61



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 18 

4.3.2 Vacation time is earned and accrued monthly. Vacation periods and eligibility must 
be approved by the employee’s supervisor and General Manager prior to the 
employee taking such vacation. Employees can take only vacation accrued and 
earned except in extenuating circumstances subject to approval by the General 
Manager. 

4.3.3 The District encourages all employees to take their earned vacation each year. 
Employees may accumulate up to sixty (60) days of vacation (a maximum of 480 
hours, prorated for part-time employees). Once this cap is reached, no further 
vacation will accrue until some vacation is used. When some vacation is used, 
vacation compensation will begin to accrue again. Vacation earned after maximum 
accumulation (480 hours) will be paid with regular pay period. 

4.3.4 Employees on authorized leave of absence, military, workers compensation and 
medical leave, will not accrue vacation during the absence. However, vacation time 
accrued prior to the extended leave of absence will remain in effect after the 
employee returns to work. 

4.4 Sick Leave 

4.4.1 All employees are provided a paid sick leave benefit. Employees begin to accrue 
sick leave on the first day of employment.  

4.4.2 Regular Full-time employees shall accrue one day (8 hours) per month. Regular 
part-time employees, working a minimum of 20 hours per week, shall accrue one 
half day (4 hours) per month. Employees may have additional sick leave negotiated 
by contract upon employment. There is no limit on the amount of sick leave an 
employee may accumulate. Employees are entitled to use paid sick leave beginning 
on the 90th day of employment. A record of accumulated sick leave and sick leave 
used will be maintained at the District’s administrative office. 

4.4.3 Sick leave may be authorized for any of the following reasons: 

a. Illness, injury or quarantine of the employee;

b. Medical, dental or optical care of the employee;

c. Illness, injury or quarantine of a member of the employee’s immediate family

Years of Continuous Employment Vacation Accrual Rate

0 - 4.999 Years 12 days/year
5th Anniversary through 9.99 Years 16 days/year
10th Anniversary through 14.99 Years 20 days/year
15th Anniversary through 19.99 Years 24 days/year
20th Anniversary through 24.99 Years 28 days/year
25th Anniversary through 29.99 Years 32 days/year
30th Anniversary & All Years Following 36 days/year

62



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  19 

that requires the employee to tend, care for, or otherwise provide for the care of 
such person. Immediate family means the spouse, child, parent, sibling, 
grandparent, grandchild, great grandparent, great grandchild of the employee; 
or the child, parent, sibling, grandparent, grandchild, great grandparent or great 
grandchild of the employee’s spouse; 

d. Sick leave for non-emergency medical, dental, or optical care during an 
authorized vacation or on a floating holiday period is not permitted; 

e. An amount sufficient which, when added to an employee’s disability indemnity 
under Worker’s Compensation, will result in a payment to the employee not 
more than the employee’s regular salary; 

f. An amount sufficient which, when added to an employee’s disability indemnity 
under State Disability Insurance (in accordance with State Disability Insurance 
rules), will result in a payment to the employee not more than the employee’s 
regular salary; 

g. Attending to issues related to domestic violence; 

h. Care for a new or adopted child. 

No employee shall be entitled to sick leave because of: 

a. Illness, injury, quarantine or disability while on leave without pay. 

4.4.4 It is your responsibility to notify your supervisor as soon as possible, but no later 
than 30 minutes after the start of the work shift, or can conclusively establish that 
you were unable to do so because of reasons beyond your control, if you are unable 
to come to work due to illness or injury. If the illness lasts more than two days, you 
must keep your supervisor notified on your condition and estimated return to work.  

4.4.5 Employees on authorized leave of absence, military, workers compensation, or 
medical leave will not accrue sick leave during the absence. However, sick leave 
accrued prior to the extended leave of absence will remain in effect after the 
employee returns to work.  

4.4.6 An employee may be required to file a document with their supervisor stating the 
cause of absence. The District may request a doctor’s certificate clearing you to 
return to work if the illness or injury so merits. A doctor’s certificate may also be 
required on any absence exceeding five workdays. 

4.4.7 When applicable, at the employee’s request, the District will coordinate its sick 
leave benefits with Worker’s Compensation benefits. If you receive Worker’s 
Comp payments, you must report them to the District for proper accounting and 
coordination. You may not receive more in total compensation from both the 
District and the insurer, than your regular wage. If you coordinate these two 
benefits, you will only be charged for the amount of sick leave needed to make up 
the difference between your regular salary and the amount paid by Worker’s Comp. 

4.4.8 In the event you become ill or incapacitated longer than your accumulated time off 
(including vacation), health and life insurance benefits will remain in effect as long 

63



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  20 

as terms of the benefit policy then in effect allows. Any employee share of benefit 
premiums, if applicable, will be deducted from your paycheck from the District. 
When you no longer get a paycheck because you have exhausted your paid leave, 
you must pay the employee share of benefit premiums, if applicable, to continue 
benefit coverage. 

4.6 Bereavement Leave 

4.6.1 Bereavement leave provides time to attend to funeral arrangements and other 
responsibilities associated with the death of an immediate family member.  

4.6.2 Regular full-time and regular part-time employees may be allowed to be absent 
with pay for up to five (5) regularly scheduled workdays in the event of the death 
of an immediate family member. Immediate family members include parent, 
spouse, child, sibling, grandparent, great grandparent, grandchild or great 
grandchild of the employee or employee’s spouse.  

4.6.3 In exceptional circumstances the General Manager may, at his/her discretion, grant 
bereavement leave for someone other than those members listed in the definition of 
immediate family. 

4.6.4 Bereavement leave is not granted automatically and must be approved by the 
General Manager. If an employee requires more than five (5) days away from the 
job, use of vacation time may be requested. 

4.7 Pregnancy Disability Leave 

4.7.1 The SCSD will comply with any state or federal law regarding pregnancy disability. 

4.7.2 If you are disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical condition, you are 
eligible to take a pregnancy disability leave (PDL). The PDL is for any period of 
actual disability caused by your pregnancy, childbirth or related medical condition 
up to four (4) months per pregnancy. Employees may also be eligible for an 
additional twelve (12) weeks of leave under the California Family Rights Act 
(CFRA). You may be required to provide certification from your health care 
provider.  

4.7.3 As with any medical condition, your disability period begins the first day you are 
unable to do your regular or customary work. DI benefits are based on the period 
of time your physician/ practitioner certifies you are unable to do your regular or 
customary work. 

4.7.4 You may substitute accrued sick leave or accrued vacation before taking the 
remainder as an unpaid leave. Leave without pay shall be granted to temporary, 
part-time and regular employees in accordance with state and federal laws. When 
you are on unpaid leave, you will not accrue sick leave, vacation, or holiday 
benefits. 

4.7.5 For the duration of the authorized leave, the District shall maintain your health and 
life insurance coverage consistent with the District’s existing policy. Upon return, 
the District will reinstate you to your original or equivalent position. 

64



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 21 

4.8 Family Care Leave 

4.8.1 Full-time employees may use a portion of their accrued sick leave as family care 
(kin care) leave to care for sick immediate family members. You may use up to half 
of the sick time accrued per calendar years (e.g. up to 6 days) to care for a sick 
family member, regardless of the seriousness of the illness. Immediate family 
members covered include mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, son, daughter, 
brother, sister, and spouse.  

In exceptional circumstances the General Manager may, at his/her discretion, grant 
family sick leave for someone other than those members listed in the definition of 
immediate family.  

Family care leave time will not carry forward from year to year. You must provide 
as much notice as possible to request family care leave, and if the leave lasts more 
than two days, you must keep your supervisor notified. 

4.8.2 State Family Leave: In accordance with State law (CFRA), any employee with 
one (1) or more years of continuous service with the SCSD and a minimum of 1,250 
hours on payroll in the twelve (12) months prior to the start date of the leave, may 
take a family care leave of up to twelve (12) weeks in a twelve-month period. The 
SCSD elects to use a rolling twelve-month period to determine eligibility for leave. 
An eligible employee who takes such family care leave shall return to employment 
in the same or comparable position upon return from said leave. 

Family care leave may be utilized in conjunction with the birth of a child of the 
employee, the placement of a child with an employee regarding the adoption of the 
child by the employee, for the serious medical condition or illness of the employee, 
or to allow the employee to care for a parent, spouse, or child who has a serious 
health condition.  

An eligible employee who takes family care leave shall be required to use accrued 
vacation, compensatory time, floating holiday, and regular holiday time during 
such leave. In accordance with SCSD regulations governing the use of sick leave, 
the employee may also use accrued sick leave time. 

For an employee covered under the SCSD's medical, dental, vision and/or life 
insurance, the SCSD shall make premium payments as though the employee were 
in paid status for the duration of the leave. An employee who takes family care 
leave in an unpaid status shall be eligible for all other fringe benefit on the same 
terms as an employee on any other unpaid leave of absence. 

4.8.3 Federal Family Leave Act: The SCSD will comply with the Family Leave Act, 
maintaining all rights or restrictions that are required by the Act. 

4.9 General Unpaid Leaves of Absence 

4.9.1 A leave of absence without pay provides a means for employees to take prolonged 
time off without terminating employment. Such leaves are granted only when there 
is an expectation that the employee will return to work. Employees may request a 
leave of absence without pay for employee or family illness, maternity or paternity 

65



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  22 

leave, adoption, education, or training which will benefit SCSD, or urgent or 
substantial personal reasons. The General Manager will determine whether the 
leave can be granted based on urgency and workload requirements. Employees 
granted a leave of absence without pay shall not accrue any vacation, sick leave or 
holiday during the time of such leave.  

For an employee who has been granted an unpaid leave of absence, SCSD will only 
continue paying health, dental, vision and life insurance premiums through the end 
of the month in which such leave commenced. SCSD payment of health, dental, 
vision and life insurance premiums will resume beginning with the month in which 
the employee returns to paid status or as otherwise provided by any SCSD insurance 
contractual requirements. 

4.9.2 Except as otherwise herein provided, leaves of absence without pay that are in the 
best interest of the District may be granted by the approval of the General Manager. 
Requests for leaves of absence without pay shall be submitted in writing by the 
employee to their supervisor who shall consider such requests on their individual 
merits and circumstances and shall forward his/her recommendation to the General 
Manager for approval. Reasons for rejection of such requests shall be submitted to 
the employee by the General Manager. 

4.9.3 When an employee is on an unpaid leave of absence, they shall not accrue sick 
leave, vacation, or holiday benefits. The General Manager may determine that an 
employee’s anniversary date, for the purposes of merit increase qualification, 
longevity increase qualification, and vacation accrual rate determination, has 
changed if the unpaid leave of absence exceeds twenty (20) working days. 

4.9.4 Leave of Absence without Pay/Benefits: While an employee is on an unpaid leave 
of absence, except as may otherwise be provided in this policy, no vacation or sick 
leave will be earned, no seniority will be accrued, and no holidays will be paid. 
Employees using a combination of leave credits and disability insurance payments 
will accrue leave credits and holidays on a prorated basis. Granting of unpaid leave 
status allows the employee to return to his or her former position or a comparable 
position to which he or she otherwise would have been allowed had he or she not 
been on leave. 

Employees may continue participating in health, dental, and life insurance plans by 
paying the entire premium at their sole expense during the period. 

SCSD will not contribute to the premiums during this period.  

4.9.5 Unpaid Medical Leave: Employees physically unable to work and under a doctor's 
care who have exhausted all sick leave and other accrued leave such as vacation or 
compensatory time may be granted unpaid medical leave until the attending 
physician releases the employee to return to work. Supervisors may request a 
doctor's verification of the employee's physical condition. Leaves of absence for 
disability related to pregnancy are governed by the California Fair Employment and 
Housing Act. 

4.9.6 Unpaid Leave, Non-Medical: This covers leave for non-medical, urgent, or 

66



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  23 

substantial personal reasons requiring time off from the job. All personal leave must 
be used before an unpaid leave of absence will be granted. 

4.10 Catastrophic Leave 

4.10.1 Catastrophic illness or injury is a severe illness or injury which is expected to 
incapacitate the employee for an extended period of time, and which creates 
financial hardship because the employee has exhausted all of his/her accumulated 
paid leave time. Catastrophic illness or injury is further defined as a debilitating 
illness or injury of an employee’s spouse, or legally dependent child that results in 
the employee being required to take time off from work for an extended period to 
care for the family member, when this creates a financial hardship because the 
employee has exhausted all of his/her accumulated paid leave time. An employee’s 
job-related illness or injury subject to worker’s compensation coverage shall not be 
eligible for this catastrophic leave provision. 

4.10.2 Paid vacation time may be donated under the following conditions: 

a. Any regular employee may donate accumulated vacation time to an eligible 
employee. Sick leave cannot be donated. 

b. Donations must be made in increments of one regular workday (or more) from 
the donating employee. 

c. The donation of paid vacation time is irreversible. Should the employee 
receiving the donated hours not use all donated leave for the catastrophic 
illness/injury, any balance will remain with that employee or will be converted 
to cash upon the employee’s separation from the District. 

d. Donated paid vacation time shall be converted to its cash value and then 
credited to the recipient in hours at the recipient’s base hour rate as vacation 
credit.  

e. Employees donating paid vacation time shall do so in writing on a form 
developed by the General Manager. 

f. All donation transactions shall be credited effective the pay period following 
submittal of the form requesting the paid time donation. 

4.11 Administrative Leave: Administrative Leave is paid time off granted by the General 
Manager for circumstances not defined in other paid leave categories that the Manager 
considers justifiably payable. 

4.12 School Activities: The SCSD shall comply with any federal or state law requiring an 
employer to grant time off to participate in a child’s school activities. Current state law 
provides that parents may take up to 40 hours per year, but not more than 8 hours per 
month, to participate in their children’s school activities. An employee may take unpaid 
leave or may use accrued vacation, compensatory leave, or a floating holiday to the extent 
that this is consistent with the Fair Labor Standards Act. 

4.13 Time off to vote: The SCSD will accommodate employees who need time off to participate 
in public elections. If an employee is unable to vote in an election during non-working 

67



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  24 

hours, the SCSD will grant up to two (2) hours of paid time off to vote. Time off for voting 
shall be taken off at the beginning or end of the regular work shift, whichever 
accommodates the most time for voting and the least time taken off work. At least two 
days’ notice that time off is needed must be provided to a supervisor. 

4.14 Jury Duty: Employees must inform the supervisor when the initial notice or questionnaire 
is received for jury duty.  

Time off with pay will be granted for such duty. Any regular employee ordered to jury duty 
during their regularly scheduled working hours shall be entitled to be paid the difference 
between their regular wages and jury duty pay. In addition, employees serving on jury duty 
shall keep their mileage payment, if any. 

If the jury duty time is less than a full day, the employee is expected to work any regularly 
scheduled working hours outside of the actual jury duty time. If employees do not comply 
with this obligation, they will not be paid for time not at work. 

Jury duty shall not be counted as hours worked for purposes of overtime calculations.  

4.15 Witnesses: Employees subpoenaed as a witness in a civil or criminal trial or hearing must 
provide their supervisor with a copy of the court order requiring appearance prior to the 
date of the appearance. They must use personal leave for this time off unless the trial or 
hearing involves SCSD as determined by the General Manager and under these 
circumstances, the employee will be given paid time off for this appearance. Any witness 
fees received by the employee while receiving paid time off for such court appearance shall 
be paid to the SCSD (along with any mileage allowed if the employee uses SCSD-provided 
transportation). 

Other Court Related Appearances: Employees who are called as expert witnesses in a trial 
in which SCSD has no interest must use personal leave for the time off. 

If an employee is personally involved in a court case as a party such as the plaintiff or 
defendant, he or she must take personal leave to appear in court or to transact business 
associated with the case. 

4.16 Military Leave: Military leave will be granted consistent with the California Military and 
Veterans Code, State and Federal laws. Any employee may take leaves of absence to 
accommodate service in the Armed Forces, Military Reserves, and National Guard. 
Specific terms of the absence and employees’ rights to reinstatement, seniority, benefits, 
and compensation after military leave are governed by law. 

4.17 Abuse of Leave: Abuse of leave is defined as the following: 

a. Expiration of Leave: Failure to return to work upon the expiration of leave constitutes 
an automatic resignation. 

b. Inappropriate Use of Leave: If an employee uses leave for purposes other than for 
which it was granted, leave may be terminated, employment with SCSD may be 
terminated, and pay for the leave may need to be reimbursed to SCSD, as determined 
by the General Manager. 

c. Unauthorized Leave: Absence without approved leave, voluntary or involuntary, for 

68



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 25 

five consecutive workdays constitutes resignation from the SCSD on the last day 
worked. 

SECTION 5.0 WORKER’S COMPENSATION 

5.1 Worker’s Compensation 

5.1.1 Under the Worker's Compensation Act, provisions are made for benefit payments 
if an employee is disabled in the course of employment and misses work because 
of the disabling condition. The Worker's Compensation Act also provides free 
medical and hospital service, if necessary, for the disabling condition. To meet the 
requirements of the act, the SCSD carries Worker's Compensation Insurance. For 
the employee’s protection, it is mandatory that any injury, no matter how slight, be 
reported immediately to the employee’s supervisor.  

5.1.2 Employees who are receiving temporary disability indemnity payments under 
Division 4 or Division 4.5 of the Labor Code shall accumulate vacation, holiday 
and sick leave during such period that they are drawing such temporary disability 
indemnity. The SCSD shall continue to provide health, dental, vision and life 
insurance plan coverage for regular full-time and regular part-time employees as if 
they were on payroll as regular employees. 

5.1.3 Work-related illness or injury will be treated in the manner prescribed by the 
Worker’s Compensation Insurance carried by the District. This includes immediate 
diagnosis and treatment at a hospital or emergency room if necessary, and follow-
up care with appropriate physicians. 

5.1.4 You will be placed on a Workers’ Compensation leave if temporarily and 
completely disabled from work for more than five days. A doctor’s written 
certificate is required. While on Workers’ Compensation leave, you are required to 
provide periodic updates on your medical condition to the General Manager. Prior 
to returning to work, you must provide written release from your doctor that permits 
you to return to work and indicates any restrictions on full duty. As discussed 
above, Worker’s Comp benefits may be coordinated with the District’s sick leave 
benefits at the employee’s request. 

5.1.5 Employees disabled in the course of employment and eligible for Worker’s 
Compensation Benefits shall be on paid administrative leave until the effective date 
of temporary disability indemnity payments to the employee or until it is 
determined that recovery from disability is sufficient to release the employee to 
return to work, whichever occurs sooner. With the commencement of temporary 
disability indemnity payments, the employee may use accrued leave in an amount 
such that the combination of leave time and temporary indemnity payments equals 
the employee’s regular salary. When and if the leave time is exhausted, the 
employee shall be on unpaid leave until it is determined that recovery from 
disability is sufficient to release the employee to return to work or it is determined 
that the employee’s disability is permanent, and the employee will not be able to 
return to work. 

69



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  26 

 

SECTION 6.0 BENEFITS 

6.1 Health Insurance 

6.1.1 Employees may be eligible for participation in the SCSD's medical insurance plan, 
which provides health, and may include: dental and/or vision coverage in 
accordance with provisions adopted by the SCSD Board. Medical insurance is 
provided for regular full-time or regular part-time employees who average at least 
20 hours per week. Medical insurance is NOT provided to temporary employees. 
Medical coverage will become effective on the first day of the month following the 
date of employment. 

6.1.2 Dependent coverage will be provided when appropriate, but the employee is 
required to contribute an amount determined by the District’s insurance plan each 
month towards dependent coverage. 

6.1.3 Retiring employees who meet the District’s retirement plan guidelines will have the 
same medical benefits as an active employee, until the age of 65. 

6.1.4 Dependents of deceased employees may be entitled to health coverage under the 
District group policy. The District may contribute toward the premium based on the 
District’s current insurance plan. The dependent share of the premium would be 
due to the District on the 10th of each month. Failure to make timely payments could 
result in cancellation of the coverage. Such cancellation would be irrevocable. 

6.1.5 The District’s Board of Directors may authorize from time to time, changes in the 
health insurance company, benefits, levels, premium distributions, and/or other 
aspects of the District’s health insurance program, as it deems advisable. 

6.1.6 It may be allowable for an employee to decline healthcare coverage with the District 
if they are enrolled in another healthcare plan through another source. Health care 
premium compensation in lieu of the healthcare may be allowed. Both options 
would be based on the District’s current healthcare plan. 

6.1.7 If a covered employee loses coverage for any reason, the employee may continue 
medical coverage at his or her own expense in accordance with the provisions of 
the California Consolidation Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) and 
such other provisions as may be adopted by the SCSD Board of Directors. Cal-
COBRA gives employees and their qualified beneficiaries the opportunity to 
continue health insurance coverage under the SCSD's health plan when a qualifying 
event would normally result in the loss of eligibility. Some qualifying events are 
resignation, termination of employment, death of employee, a reduction in an 
employee's hours or leave of absence, an employee's divorce or legal separation, 
and a dependent child no longer meeting eligibility requirements. 

Under Cal-COBRA, the employee or beneficiary pays the full cost of coverage at 
the SCSD's group rate plus an administration fee. Coverage can continue for 
eighteen (18) months after termination, or as much as twenty-nine (29) months if 
the employee is disabled, provided the employee has paid the applicable premiums 

70



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  27 

at least two (2) weeks prior to the premium due date. 

6.2 Life Insurance: All full-time employees are eligible for participation in the SCSD's life 
insurance plan if the SCSD Board adopts a Life Insurance benefit. Life insurance will be 
paid for in accordance with provisions adopted by the SCSD Board by resolution, and the 
SCSD’s insurance carrier. 

6.3 Disability Insurance: The District will participate in state and federal disability programs. 

6.4 Retirement 

6.4.1 The District will provide a retirement plan for all full-time employees. The full-
time employee will be required to pay a portion of the monthly premium, based on 
the retirement plan approved by the Board of Directors (Board). The Board has the 
authority to modify and/or change the retirement plan based on financial issues 
specific to the adopted fiscal budget. The Board will provide one fiscal year (July 
1st through June 30th) notice to all full-time employees prior to any modification or 
change in the existing retirement plan. 

6.4.2 Deferred Compensation: A deferred compensation plan which allows you to defer 
a portion of your salary from income taxes may be available to employees based on 
the District’s current retirement plan. 

6.5 IRC 125 and 129 Plans: The SCSD may establish a pre-tax plan as provided under IRC 
125 and IRC 129 of the Internal Revenue Service Code. This plan may provide 1) a 
cafeteria plan in addition to or in lieu of health, dental, and/or vision insurance; 2) a 
dependent care assistance plan for pretax payment of child care expenses; 3) a medical 
spending account for pre-tax payment of out-of-pocket medical expenses up to a limit 
established by the SCSD; and/or 4) pre-tax payment of medical premiums. Participation 
in such plans will be established by the plan document. 

6.6 Safety Equipment: The SCSD shall provide designated employees with safety 
prescription glasses whenever safety glasses are required by the CAL/OSHA or other State 
or Federal regulation. The SCSD will not provide for broken lenses or frames unless such 
breakage is the result of an on-the- job accident. The SCSD shall provide designated 
employees with safety shoes as specified by the General Manager whenever such shoes are 
required by the CAL/OSHA or other State of Federal regulations. 

 

SECTION 7.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROCEDURES 

7.1 Work Rules: The General Manager may establish work rules to govern daily operations 
of the SCSD and may amend such rules as needed. 

7.2 Confidentiality 

7.2.1 Certain materials, files and information are confidential and occasionally sensitive. 
SCSD employees are responsible for knowing which information is confidential 
and what may be released and for maintaining the security and confidentiality of 
confidential materials. Release of confidential information may be damaging to the 
safety and security of employees or customers, may result in loss of privacy for 

71



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  28 

employees or customers and may subject the SCSD to liability or damage the 
SCSD's image. Failure to maintain confidentiality may subject the employee to 
disciplinary action. 

7.2.2 Disclosure of Closed Session Information. An employee shall not disclose 
confidential information acquired by being present during a closed session to a 
person not entitled to receive such information, unless the Board authorizes 
disclosure of that information. (Government Code 54963) 

Confidential information means a communication made in a closed session that is 
specifically related to the basis for the Board to meet lawfully in closed session. 
(Government Code 54963) 

An employee who willfully discloses confidential information acquired during a 
closed session may be subject to disciplinary action if he/she has received training 
or notice as to the requirements of this policy. (Government Code 54963) 

The General Manager, or designee, shall provide a copy of this policy to all 
employees who attend closed sessions. New employees who may attend closed 
sessions shall also receive a copy of this policy. 

The District shall not take disciplinary action against any employee for disclosing 
confidential information acquired in a closed session, nor shall the disclosure be 
considered a violation of the law or Board policy, when the employee is 
(Government Code 54963):  

a. Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury 
concerning a perceived violation of the law, including disclosing facts 
necessary to establish the illegality or potential illegality of a Board action that 
has been the subject of deliberation during a closed session. 

b. Disclosing information that is not confidential but acquired during a closed 
session. 

c. Expressing an opinion about propriety or legality of board closed session action, 
including disclosure of the extent and nature of the illegal or potentially illegal 
action. 

7.2.3 Other Disclosures: An employee who willfully releases confidential/privileged 
information about the district, the public, or staff shall be subject to disciplinary 
action. 

No employee shall disclose confidential information acquired during his/her 
official duties. Confidential information includes information that is not a public 
record subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act, information that by law 
may not be disclosed, or information that may have a material financial effect on 
the employee. 

Any action by an employee that inadvertently or carelessly results in release of 
confidential/privileged information shall be recorded, and the record shall be placed 
in the employee's personnel file. Depending on the circumstances, the General 

72



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  29 

Manager, or designee, may deny the employee further access to any privileged 
information and shall take any steps necessary to prevent any further unauthorized 
release of such information. 

7.3 Acceptance of Gifts 

7.3.1 Occasionally, SCSD employees may be offered or receive gifts, often as small as 
candy, baked goods, promotional items, flowers, etc., from customers, vendors or 
others. In these circumstances, it is inappropriate to accept the gift when offered. If 
the gift is received without prior notice to the employee, the gift must be returned 
donated to a non-profit entity or shared in its entirety with staff and/or visitors to 
SCSD offices. In no circumstances may an employee accept cash or its equivalent 
or alter the level of service or purchasing based on such gifts. 

7.3.2 Any honorarium paid to an SCSD employee for a work-related speaking 
engagement or other presentation such as an appearance shall be returned to the 
SCSD. 

7.3.3 As public employees, SCSD employees are covered by provisions of the fair 
Political Practices Commission and conflict of interest legislation. Guidelines 
require designated employees to report meals, gifts, or expenditures on the 
employee's behalf of over $50.00 on conflict of interest forms. All employees shall 
report gifts of any value to their supervisor.  

7.4 Nepotism: No SCSD supervisor or manager may directly or indirectly supervise a spouse, 
parent, child, sibling, grandparent, grandchild, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew of the 
employee or the employee's spouse, unless otherwise approved by the General Manager. 

7.5 Use of SCSD Resources 

7.5.1 General: Incidental use of SCSD equipment is permissible if it is kept to a 
minimum, does not conflict with SCSD business, is on the employee's own time, 
and is not used for personal profit. Supervisors are expected to monitor use.  

7.5.2 Cell Phones: Employees issued a District phone will not use it for personal use. 

7.5.3 SCSD Business-Related Education: The SCSD would like to support employees' 
desire to further their education. SCSD equipment may be used for educational 
purposes with management approval. If the employee requires more than five (5) 
megabytes of file server disk storage, management approval is required. Printer 
paper should be reimbursed at the same rate as copy paper. All files saved on SCSD 
equipment is subject to disclosure under the Public Records Act laws. 

7.5.4 SCSD Staff: SCSD staff shall not be used for personal business during working 
hours. 

7.5.5 Personal Software: No personal software shall be installed or loaded on the SCSD 
network (including workstation hard disks). SCSD maintains a collection of 
approved/maintained software and no other software may be installed or loaded 
without approval from the General Manager. 

73



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 30 

7.5.6 Software Installation and Changes to Configuration: No software will be 
installed on SCSD owned workstations by employees. No configuration changes 
will be made to SCSD owned computers except for: colors, screen resolution, file 
directory defaults, and desktop wallpaper. SCSD owned computers are the property 
and maintenance responsibility of the SCSD and will be upgraded by technology 
support staff only. 

7.5.7 Privately Owned Computers: An employee has all rights and authority over their 
own personal equipment. No SCSD owned software will be installed by the 
employee on a privately-owned computer without prior approval of management. 
When a user installs SCSD owned software, they are responsible for maintenance 
and upgrades. Regardless of software ownership, the privately-owned computer is 
not and will not be the maintenance responsibility of SCSD and will not be 
upgraded or maintained by SCSD staff or contracted service providers. This policy 
will allow for the separation of responsibility; SCSD staff is responsible for SCSD 
computers and applications, and the home user is responsible for the home user’s 
own private computer. 

7.6 Workplace Privacy 

7.6.1 Any information contained on SCSD networks, hard disks, files, desks, and lockers 
is not "personal/confidential." The SCSD may have need, during the normal course 
of business, to search computer or hard copy files or an employee's desk for 
necessary information. The SCSD will not guarantee that items of a personal nature 
will be undisturbed if this type of search is necessary. If employees have 
information that they deem personal and confidential, it should not be located at the 
SCSD. Common sense and courtesy will be exercised in the event staff needs to 
search another employee's work area, but personal items of a sensitive nature may 
be inadvertently disturbed. 

7.6.2 Employees should not encrypt documents of a business nature unless they are 
highly sensitive. In this case, the encrypted password should be given to the 
employee's supervisor for emergency access. All desks, filing cabinets, and hard 
disks that lock should have a key located with the employee's supervisor for 
emergency purposes. 

7.7 Smoking Prohibited: The SCSD provides its employees and visitors with a safe 
workplace free of smoke, smokeless tobacco, electronic cigarettes, and all by-products. As 
such, smoking is prohibited in all work areas and District vehicles. Employees or visitors 
wishing to smoke must do so in designated areas outside any SCSD buildings but no closer 
than 20 feet from any doorway or open window. 

7.8 Personal Appearance: The SCSD promotes an attractive, professional, and high-quality 
workplace for our customers and our employees. Accordingly, staff is expected to dress in 
a manner appropriate for the type of work performed. 

7.9 Drug and Alcohol Abuse: The SCSD is a drug-free workplace. The SCSD recognizes the 
problems and hazards associated with drug and alcohol use. Therefore, the SCSD prohibits 
the use, possession, or distribution of drugs and alcohol on its property. To ensure a drug 

74



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 31 

and alcohol-free environment, the SCSD has adopted the following policy: 

The use, possession, or distribution of any alcoholic beverages, intoxicants, 
narcotics, illegal or unauthorized drugs, "look-alike", or simulated drugs, 
prescription drugs not prescribed for the employee, and related paraphernalia on 
SCSD worksites or in SCSD vehicles is strictly prohibited. Employees shall not 
report to work under the influence of any drug, alcoholic beverage, intoxicant, 
narcotic, or other substance, including prescribed drugs and medication that will 
adversely affect their working ability, alertness, response, or coordination, or 
jeopardize the safety of themselves, co-workers, and the public. The SCSD reserves 
the right to require a drug test of any employee reasonably believed to be under the 
influence. 

Serious offenses may be grounds for termination. Depending on the nature of the 
offense, and extenuating circumstances involved, the General Manager shall 
determine the appropriate level of discipline. 

 SCSD can require that the employee or applicant for a position submit to drug 
testing under the following circumstances: 

7.9.1 Reasonable Suspicion: The General Manager shall have the authority to order an 
employee to submit to a drug and/or alcohol test to be undertaken in a manner 
prescribed by this policy, when General Manager has a reasonable suspicion that 
an employee is intoxicated or under the influence of drugs or alcohol on the job or 
during breaks or meal periods. 

"Reasonable suspicion" is a belief based on objective facts sufficient to lead a 
reasonably prudent supervisor to suspect that an employee is under the influence of 
drugs or alcohol to the extent that the employee's ability to perform the functions 
of the job is impaired or to the extent that the employee's ability to perform his/her 
job safely is reduced. 

Existence of reasonable suspicion shall be based on the total circumstances and will 
normally include more than one of the following factors. For example, except for 
possession, any combination of any of the following may constitute reasonable 
suspicion: 

a. Slurred speech;
b. Alcohol odor on breath;
c. Unsteady walking and movement;
d. An accident involving the employee, SCSD property and/or equipment or

property where the cause may be symptomatic of suspected use of alcohol
or drugs;

e. Physical altercation;
f. Verbal altercation
g. Deviation from employee's normal behavior
h. Possession of alcohol or drugs unrelated to job responsibilities will be

sufficient grounds for reasonable suspicion
i. Information obtained from a reliable person with personal knowledge

75



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 32 

j. Increased absenteeism
k. Performance of work with reduced efficiency and/or effectiveness
l. Increased disciplinary actions

The District Manager, ordering an employee to be required to submit to a drug and/or 
alcohol test, shall document in writing the facts constituting reasonable suspicion that the 
employee in question is intoxicated or under the influence of drugs. 

7.9.2 Pre-Employment Testing 
a. Not being disqualified from employment based upon the result upon such

test. Employment shall be denied if applicant refuses to sign the consent
form or submit to the medical and/or chemical testing.

b. If an alcohol or drug screen is positive, the applicant shall not be hired
unless they provide a bona fide verification of a valid current prescription
for the drug identified in the drug screen or other medically acceptable
explanation for positive test.

c. All offers of employment with the SCSD shall be conditioned upon the
applicants.
1. Signing of a consent form indicating receipt of a copy of this policy; 
2. Submittal to a medical and chemical test for evidence of drug and/or 

alcohol use, designated by the SCSD; and
3. Not being disqualified from employment based upon the result upon 

such test. Employment shall be denied if applicant refuses to sign
the consent form or submit to the medical and/or chemical testing.

4. If an alcohol or drug screen is positive, the applicant shall not be
hired unless they provide a bona fide verification of a valid current
prescription for the drug identified in the drug screen or other
medically acceptable explanation for positive test.

7.9.3 Post-Accident Testing:  If an employee is involved in an accident during the 
course of performing his/her duties, he or she shall submit to chemical testing. If 
testing is done, the following shall apply: 
a. If an initial drug screen is positive, the employee must provide within a

reasonable time (normally 24 hours of request) bona fide verification of a
valid current prescription for the drug identified in the drug screen or other
medically acceptable explanation for the positive test. The prescription
must be in the employee's name. If the employee does not provide
acceptable verification of a valid prescription, or if the prescription is not
in the employee's name, or if the employee has not previously notified his
or her supervisor of the use of a potentially impairing legal drug, the
employee may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including
termination.

The decision to discipline or terminate will be carried out in conformance with the 
disciplinary procedures outlined in the SCSD's Personnel Policy. 

76



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 33 

7.9.4. SCSD may perform random drug testing for employees in safety sensitive 
positions. 

7.9.5. Any employee who refuses to submit to such testing or conducts himself or herself 
during such testing so as to induce a false, incorrect or invalid result shall be subject to 
disciplinary action up to and including termination; 

7.9.6. Each employee shall notify his/her supervisor and provide medication drug side 
effect information before beginning work, when taking any medications or drugs 
(prescription or non-prescription) which may interfere with the safe and effective 
performance of duties or operation of SCSD equipment. 

7.9.7. SCSD may require the testing to be done through a blood test, urinalysis, or other 
drug and/or alcohol screening method.  Testing must be approved by the District 
Manager or his/her designee and must be done by a licensed/certified individual. 

7.10 Electronic Mail 

7.10.1 It is the SCSD's policy that the electronic mail (e-mail) system, like other SCSD 
property, be used in a professional and lawful manner and solely for the benefit of 
the SCSD. 

7.10.2 The Nature of E-Mail: When a message is deleted from the e-mail system, a 
record of it may remain on the computer system. Because there is the possibility 
that inappropriate communications on e-mail may be not only widely published, 
but also indelibly stored, the SCSD requires that all employees exercise appropriate 
discretion in using the e-mail system. Even though e-mail is a less formal 
communication than business letters, employees must remember that e-mail 
messages are SCSD communications and must be treated as such. 

Accordingly, the e-mail system may not be used to send jokes or other comments 
to others that may be perceived as discriminatory, harassing, offensive, or 
disruptive. Employees may not use the e-mail system to send material that 
disparages an individual, the SCSD, or business entity or discloses personal 
information without authorization. 

7.10.3 Access to E-Mail: The e-mail system is not a private mode of communication. 
When you use e-mail, you are creating SCSD documents that may be read by others 
in circumstances, including, but not limited to, the following business or legal 
purposes: 

a. During regular system maintenance;

b. When a business need exists to access the employee's mailbox;

c. In response to a legal request to disclose e-mail messages from law enforcement
officials or in ongoing legal proceedings;

d. When the SCSD has reason to believe that the employee is using e-mail in

77



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  34 

violation of SCSD policies (including, but not limited to, its policies prohibiting 
discrimination and harassment, misappropriation of SCSD property, or using 
SCSD equipment for personal purposes); or 

e. For periodic, unannounced inspection by the SCSD for business purposes. 

System security features, including passwords and message delete functions, do not 
prevent the SCSD from accessing any message at any time. Employees must be 
aware that the possibility of such access always exists. Should employees make 
incidental use of the e-mail system to transmit personal messages, such messages 
will be treated no differently than other messages and may be accessed by the SCSD 
under any of the circumstances in the preceding list.  

Solicitations, offers to buy and sell goods or services, and other personal messages 
to large groups via the e-mail system are not appropriate uses of this SCSD asset. 

7.12 Solicitation Policy: It is the SCSD's policy that no solicitation and/or advertising of any 
nature be permitted in SCSD facilities unless authorized by the General Manager and/or 
the Board of Directors. The purpose of this policy is to prevent the unnecessary interruption 
of SCSD business and to establish a common procedure governing solicitation and/or 
advertising. 

7.13 Workplace Violence Prevention 

7.13.1 The SCSD is committed to preventing workplace violence and to maintaining a 
safe work environment. To help ensure a safe environment, the SCSD may install 
security cameras. 

7.13.2 All employees should always be treated with courtesy and respect. Employees are 
expected to refrain from fighting, "horseplay,” or other conduct that may be 
dangerous to others. Firearms, weapons and other dangerous or hazardous devices 
or substances are prohibited. 

7.13.3 Conduct that threatens, intimidates, or coerces another employee, a customer, or 
member of the public at any time, including off-duty periods, will not be tolerated. 
This prohibition includes all acts of harassment. 

7.13.4 All threats of (or actual) violence, both direct and indirect, should be reported as 
soon as possible to your immediate supervisor or any other members of 
management. This includes threats by employees, customers, vendors, solicitors, or 
other members of the public. When reporting a threat of violence, you should be as 
specific and detailed as possible. All suspicious individuals or activities should be 
reported as soon as possible. 

7.14 Use of Vehicles 

7.14.1 From time-to-time, SCSD employees may be required to drive either a SCSD 
vehicle or the employee's personal vehicle on SCSD business. This policy is being 
implemented to assist the organization in managing the risk and exposure related 
to employees driving on SCSD business. The goal of this policy is for all employees 
to maintain a good driving record, carry an amount of insurance as determined by 

78



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  35 

the General Manager, and assist the SCSD in minimizing the risk factor of over 
exposure to litigation and claims resulting from auto accidents while conducting 
SCSD business. 

7.14.2 Documentation: Any SCSD employee who drives a personal vehicle on SCSD 
business must provide the following at the start of employment and at the start of 
each fiscal year: 

a. Proof of insurance for all personal vehicles used when conducting SCSD 
business. Verification may include a copy of the declaration sheet stating (a) 
name of insurance carrier; (b) effective date of coverage; (c) limits of coverage. 

b. A current, valid, California Driver's license. 

7.14.3 An approved driver’s list will be maintained for all employees who must drive as a 
part of their jobs. Supervisors will be responsible for identifying these positions 
(work-based needs). All drivers must be able to legally drive in California. An 
employee who loses the right to drive, or whose license is restricted for any reason, 
must immediately report such to his or her supervisor. 

7.14.4 Motor Vehicle Record Reporting Requirements: All employees are required to 
immediately report to their supervisor or manager when they have been involved 
in an accident while driving on SCSD business in a personal or SCSD vehicle. If 
an employee reports two (2) at-fault (preventable) accidents within a 24-month 
period, a review of the employee's insurance coverage and job-related driving 
activity will be required. 

7.14.5  Insurance Liability Coverage and Limits: All drivers must carry insurance with 
minimums of no less than the State of California legal requirement, or a greater 
amount as determined by the General Manager. The current minimum State 
requirement is: 

a. $15,000 bodily injury liability per person 

b. $30,000 bodily injury liability per occurrence 

c. $5,000 property damage liability coverage 

In addition to the minimum coverage required, SCSD employees must provide their 
own comprehensive coverage if they want their vehicles insured. The SCSD 
insurance will not cover auto body damage to employees’ vehicles. For those 
employees with comprehensive coverage, the SCSD will pay their deductible, up 
to $250, for accidents occurring while on SCSD business, provided the employee 
is not at fault. 

7.14.6 No Personal Use: District owned vehicles shall not be used for any purpose 
other than District business or in the performance of a duty as a District 
employee. Personal use of District owned vehicles is prohibited, without prior 
approval from the District Manager. 

7.14.7. DMV Pull-Notice Program: The SCSD is responsible for insuring that regular and 

79



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  36 

temporary employees operate a SCSD owned or privately owned vehicle for SCSD 
business are enrolled in the DMV Pull-Notice Program. 

Prior to hiring, all applicants for regular or temporary positions that operating a SCSD 
owned or privately owned vehicle for SCSD business must provide (at applicant’s 
expense) SCSD with a current driving record from the Department of Motor Vehicles. 
The date on which the driving record was obtained shall be no more than 5 business 
days prior to the proposed hire date. The SCSD will review the driving record to 
determine whether the applicant can be authorized to drive SCSD vehicles and/or 
equipment and will submit enrollment forms to the DMV Pull-Notice Program as 
appropriate. 
Contracted temporary agencies are responsible for insuring that temporary employees 
are enrolled in the DMV Pull Notice Program.  

7.14.8. GPS: The District reserves the right to utilize Global Positioning 
Systems on any of its vehicles. 

7.14.9  Vehicle Policy: It is the policy of the District that:  

a. Any driver of a vehicle for District business must have in his or her possession a 
valid California Driver’s License.  

b. Any driver who drives a vehicle in the course and scope of District business must 
have proof of private automobile insurance in excess of the minimum standards of 
the Financial Responsibility Law of the State Vehicle Code. 

c. Employees shall be prohibited from carrying passengers in District vehicles who 
are not related to District business.  

d. Employees are specifically prohibited from carrying hitchhikers.  
e. The Board or its designee may grant approval in writing to carry specific 

passenger(s) or to use a District vehicle in appropriate circumstances and on a 
case-by-case basis without amendments to this ordinance.  

f. Employees shall be required to observe all traffic rules, regulations, or other 
courtesies at all times.  While operating a vehicle on District business, drivers shall 
operate vehicles not only in compliance with traffic laws, but in compliance with 
safe driving practices including but not limited to:  
1. Obeying posted speed limits.  
2. All occupants shall use safety belts properly adjusted and securely fastened.  

The driver of the vehicle shall ensure that all passengers are properly wearing 
seat belts.   

3. Fines and penalties imposed by a court for violation while on District business 
shall be personal reasonability of the driver.  

g. A District vehicle shall not be used for any purpose other than District business or 
in the performance of a duty as District employee, without prior approval from the 
District General Manager. 

h. District owned vehicles shall not be used to push another stalled vehicle or be used 
for other activities that may cause damage to the District vehicle.  

i. Vehicle keys shall never be left in unattended vehicles, even when parked in a 
secured enclosure.  

80



 SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198  37 

j. District vehicles must be locked when not in use, including when parked in the 
designated District parking areas for each department.  

k. The use of any tobacco product by any driver of a District vehicle is prohibited.  
l. The use of alcohol by any driver of a District vehicle is prohibited.  
m. Employees are prohibited from using cellular phones or other communication 

equipment such as smartphones and laptop computers for any purpose including, 
but not limited to, placing calls, text messaging or instant messaging, while driving 
a District vehicle unless a hands-free devise is in use.  

n. Parking citations issued to a District vehicle shall be the responsibility of the 
employee who parked the vehicle.  

o. Employees shall operate District vehicle in an ordinary, reasonable manner 
consistent with the intended use of the vehicle. Except for vehicles engaged in law 
enforcement work, they shall not be used in activities which may damage the 
vehicle. 

p. The costs of repairing damages to District vehicles resulting from gross 
negligence, abuse or willful misconduct by the employee having custody of the 
vehicle shall be recoverable from the employee. 

 
7.15 Travel Policy 

7.15.1 General Travel Policy: Travel on SCSD business or individual contract business 
shall be by the most economical means consistent with the situation, as determined 
by the General Manager. The SCSD will reimburse authorized travelers for their 
necessary and reasonable expenses incurred while traveling on SCSD business. 

The General Manager must approve travel on SCSD business outside of Humboldt 
County in advance. All reimbursement requests must be signed by the employee 
and approved by the General Manager or designee. 

Employees may make their own plane/rental car/lodging reservations or have the 
SCSD staff make them. Travel shall be by the least expensive method (plane or 
private car), consistent with the work needs of the SCSD as determined by the 
General Manager or designee. An employee wishing to travel by private car rather 
than public transportation shall be reimbursed only up to the cost of public 
transportation and necessary car rental as determined by the General Manager. 

7.15.2 Local Travel: The SCSD will fully reimburse authorized travelers for local transit 
expenses. Receipts are required for reimbursement. 

7.15.3 Parking: The SCSD will fully reimburse authorized travelers for parking 
expenses. Receipts are required for reimbursement. 

7.15.4 Private Automobile: The SCSD will fully reimburse mileage at the standard 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) allowable mileage rate. Any increases or decreases 
in the allowable rate will occur simultaneously with the publication date of the new 
IRS rate as determined by the General Manager or designee. 

7.15.5 Rental Car: The General Manager or designee may authorize use of a rental car. 
Employees should rent compact cars when traveling unless business necessity 
dictates otherwise, as determined by the General Manager or designee.  

81



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 38 

Authorized travelers may claim cost of gas, oil, and related auto expenses when 
supported by receipts and when such expenses are not part of the rental agreement. 
Travelers should accept the corporate rate whenever possible. This rate includes 
necessary insurance. When the corporate rate is taken, travelers do not need to 
accept the over-the-counter insurance unless they do not have required coverage on 
their personal insurance. If a traveler must take over-the-counter insurance because 
personal Insurance does not meet SCSD minimums, the extra insurance cost will 
not be reimbursed.  

For economic reasons, travelers are strongly encouraged to fill the gas tank of the 
rental car themselves before turning it back into the rental agency. 

7.15.6 Tolls: The SCSD will fully reimburse authorized travelers for tolls. Receipts are 
required for reimbursement. 

7.15.7 Lodging: The SCSD will fully reimburse authorized travelers for actual lodging 
expenses consistent with the area of travel when supported by the itemized bill from 
the establishment. Lodging and the cost of lodging must be pre-approved by the 
General Manager or designee. 

7.15.8 Meals: The SCSD will reimburse the actual reasonable, as may be defined by the 
General Manager, cost of meals excluding alcohol, to authorized travelers on SCSD 
business outside Humboldt County. Any exception to this restriction will require 
specific approval by the General Manager or designee.  Meal reimbursement shall 
be capped at $45 per day, with $10 breakfast, $15 lunch, $20 dinner 

7.15.9 Business Meals: SCSD-authorized travelers are allowed to host meals for other 
persons when the meal is related to the business. Travelers may claim actual cost 
for the meal when supported by receipts. The reason for the meal and the names 
and titles of guests will be listed on the travel claim form. Any deviation from the 
above guidelines requires approval by the General Manager or designee. Expenses 
for business meals consumed within Humboldt County will be reimbursed for the 
client only unless the appropriate manager pre-approves the employee's meal, or it 
is consistent with the written policy of the General Manager. Documentation as 
listed in the above paragraph must be supplied. 

7.15.10 Registration Fees: The SCSD will fully reimburse authorized travelers for 
registration fees required to attend a seminar, organized luncheon meeting, etc., 
when supported by receipt. Reimbursement will occur only when the employee 
has prior written authorization and is representing the SCSD. 

7.15.11 Phone Calls: Authorized phone calls on a business trip are calls made during 
SCSD business. All long-distance business calls should be placed on a station-to-
station basis using a telephone credit card, except that SCSD will reimburse the 
employee for one call of reasonable length to home each day that the employee is 
required to stay overnight outside of the area on SCSD business. Phone call 
reimbursement is subject to the limitations in the below section on “Incidental 
Expenses”. 

7.15.12 Incidental Expenses: The SCSD will reimburse authorized travelers for actual 

82



SCSD Personnel Policies and Procedures  
DecemberNovember 195, 20198 39 

incidental expenses incurred, such as personal phone calls, taxi driver and baggage 
tips, etc. up to a maximum of $8.00 per day when certified by the claimant. These 
are claimed and itemized as incidentals on the claim form. 

7.15.13 Travel Extension: When employees traveling by air wish to extend an authorized 
trip beyond the time required for business, they may do so on their own time if they 
obtain pre-approval for vacation taken. The SCSD will reimburse the employee for 
the cost of lodging and meals only up to the initial return date. 

7.15.14 Adequate Records: It is the responsibility of the traveler to keep adequate 
documentation of expenses claimed for reimbursement. Incidentals, while not 
requiring receipts, must be itemized on a log with the date, description of each 
incidental expense, and amount attached to the travel claim. All receipts must be 
original. They should be placed in chronological order and attached to 8 1/2 X 11 
sheets of paper with the date and explanation next to the receipt. Any claim 
submitted that does not follow these guidelines may be returned to the claimant for 
correction. Any exceptions to this policy require written approval by the General 
Manager or designee. 

7.16 Educational Reimbursement Policy: Reimbursement is subject to determination by the 
General Manager that a course is career related and subject to approval by the General 
Manager who may prepare and issue guidelines for the administration of this policy. 

7.17 Political Activities: Employees shall not engage in political activities of any kind either 
during the employee’s work hours or on District property. 

83



reRESOLUTION NO. 2019-22 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SCOTIA COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AMENDING THE PERSONNEL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

WHEREAS, the Scotia Community Services District (“Scotia CSD”) is organized and 
operates pursuant to the California Government Code Section 61000, et seq.; and 

WHEREAS, California Government Code Section 61045(g) requires the Board to adopt 
administrative policies, including personnel policies, for the operation of the Scotia Community 
Services District; and 

WHEREAS, to provide direction on all personnel issues in the Scotia CSD, and to 
ensure the consistent application of all federal, state, local and District rules and regulations 
regarding District employees, it is necessary to adopt a personnel policy; and 

WHEREAS, the original Personnel Policies and Procedures were adopted on January 21, 
2016 under Resolution 2016-1: A Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Scotia Community 
Services District to adopt the Scotia Community Services District Personnel Policies and 
Procedures, was amended under Resolution 2018-18: A Resolution of the Scotia Community 
Services District Board of Directors Amending The Personnel Policies and Procedures and is 
amended under this resolution, and may be amended again at any time. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Scotia 
Community Service District as follows: 

Section 1: The Recitals set forth above are incorporated herein and made an operative 
part of this Resolution. 

Section 2: The Scotia Community Services District Personnel Policies and Procedures, 
dated December 19, 2019, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and by this reference made a part 
hereof, is hereby adopted as the official personnel policy and procedures of this District. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

Dated: December 19, 2019 

APPROVED: ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 
Paul Newmaker, Board President, Scotia CSD Board Clerk, Scotia CSD 

84



CLERK'S CERTIFICATE 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2019-22, 
passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Scotia Community Service District Board of 
Directors, County of Humboldt, State of California, held on the 19th day of December 2019, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTENTIONS: 

Board Clerk, Scotia CSD 

Attached: Scotia Community Services District Personnel Policies and Procedures 

85



Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

DATE:  December 19, 2019 
TO: Scotia Community Services District Board of Directors 
FROM: Leslie Marshall, General Manager 
SUBJECT Update on the FEMA and CalOES processes 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Administrative staff recommends the Board receive an update on the status of the funding 
attainment for replacement of the primary clarifier damaged in February 2019.  

ACTION: 

The update is informational only. No action will be taken at this time. Staff recommends the 
Board use this as an opportunity to ask any questions and supply feedback.  
DISCUSSION: 

An influx of excess debris and grit into the SCSD waste stream in February 2019 was caused by 
heavy rains and resulted in significant damage to the skimmer, sludge arms, and baffle of the 
primary clarifier. Damages were estimated at the cost of $200,000. In May 2019 a major disaster 
was declared in 17 counties as a result of those heavy precipitation events (including Humboldt) 
which qualified the District as eligible for federal funding (through FEMA) to repair this 
infrastructure.  
FEMA coordinates with Cal OES to implement the Public Assistance (PA) Grant Program. The 
attached documentation is the latest to be submitted for obtaining federal funding through 
FEMA.  
A significant development in the pursuit of replacement of the primary clarifier occurred late in 
the course with the FEMA application process. Specifically, the requirement that the District 
submit a claim to our insurance for the damaged property. Staff has submitted a claim with 
SDRMA and is awaiting the scheduling of a meeting with an adjuster to pursue the claim.  
FEMA and CalOES will not fund any portion of the replacement costs of the primary clarifier 
unless a claim has been placed through the district’s insurance.  
Staff is working through the claims process now and will update more next month. 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Variable dependent upon funding attained. Potential for SDRMA insurance premium to increase. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
CalOES FFATA 2019 
CalOES FFATA 2020 
CalOES 89 
Emails detailing SDRMA claim 

86



87



88



89



90



91



12/13/2019 Gmail - SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ik=65c870ee8b&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-a%3Ar1655146876150700909&simpl=msg-a%3Ar16551468… 1/2

Scotia CSD <infoscotiacsd@gmail.com>

SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier
Scotia CSD <infoscotiacsd@gmail.com> Thu, Dec 12, 2019 at 3:46 PM
To: claims@sdrma.org

Hello, 
Our district is going through the FEMA process to obtain funding for a new clarifier (a component of our wastewater
treatment facility). The clarifier was broken late last February from a heavy influx of debris and grit as a result of intense
storms. There was a federal disaster declared, hence the FEMA process. We have been working through this process for
many months now and they will only supply the funding if we have already submitted a claim through our insurance,
which we have not. 

That is what we are now attempting to do. I am attaching a claim form as well as pictures of the broken unit. Please
advise of the next steps or what other documentation is required. 
Thank you, 
Jenn McDonald
Scotia Community Services District
P.O. Box 104
400 Church Street
Scotia, CA 95565
(707) 764-3030
infoscotiacsd@gmail.com

6 attachments

Photo Mar 05, 11 29 44.jpg
2810K

Photo Mar 05, 11 32 41.jpg
3703K

Photo Mar 05, 11 28 51 (1).jpg
2917K

92

mailto:infoscotiacsd@gmail.com
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.1&disp=inline&realattid=f_k43deqr70&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.2&disp=inline&realattid=f_k43dexbx1&safe=1&zw


12/13/2019 Gmail - SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ik=65c870ee8b&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-a%3Ar1655146876150700909&simpl=msg-a%3Ar16551468… 2/2

Photo Mar 05, 11 32 46.jpg
3548K

Photo Mar 05, 11 32 37.jpg
3562K

OnlineClaims.pdf
198K

93

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.3&disp=inline&realattid=f_k43df2k02&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.4&disp=inline&realattid=f_k43dfixl3&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.5&disp=inline&realattid=f_k43dfnll4&safe=1&zw
https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ui=2&ik=65c870ee8b&view=att&th=16efc81f17dc4515&attid=0.6&disp=attd&realattid=f_k43dg5yx5&safe=1&zw


12/13/2019 Gmail - SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ik=65c870ee8b&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1652819245091991718&simpl=msg-f%3A16528192450… 1/2

Scotia CSD <infoscotiacsd@gmail.com>

SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier
Debbie Yokota <dyokota@sdrma.org> Fri, Dec 13, 2019 at 7:34 AM
To: "infoscotiacsd@gmail.com" <infoscotiacsd@gmail.com>
Cc: Heidi Singer <hsinger@sdrma.org>, Dennis Timoney <DTimoney@sdrma.org>, Danny Pena <dpena@sdrma.org>

Hi Jenn,

This appears to be a covered loss since the Wastewater Treatment plant is a scheduled location.
I’ve opened claim #8156 for this loss.

I will send out an adjuster to inspect the damage to confirm coverage and repair costs.

Are you the contact person for the adjuster? Thanks!

Debbie Yokota

Claims Manager

Special District Risk Management Authority
1112 I Street, Suite 300
Sacramento, California 95814
Direct Line: 916.231.4127 or 800.537.7790 F 916.231.4111

www.sdrma.org

A proud California Special Districts Alliance partner - California Special Districts Association | Special District Risk Management Authority | CSDA Finance
Corporation

P Please consider the environment before you print

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY | This electronic message and any files or attachments transmitted with it may be
confidential, privileged, or proprietary information of the Special District Risk Management Authority. The information is solely for the
use of the individual or entity to which it was intended to be addressed. If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient,
you are hereby notified that use, distribution, or copying of this e-mail is strictly prohibited. If you received this e-mail in error, please
notify the sender immediately, destroy any copies, and delete it from your system.

94

https://www.google.com/maps/search/1112+I+Street,+Suite+300+%0D%0ASacramento,+California+95814?entry=gmail&source=g
http://www.sdrma.org/


12/13/2019 Gmail - SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/1?ik=65c870ee8b&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1652819245091991718&simpl=msg-f%3A16528192450… 2/2

From: claims <claims@sdrma.org> 
Sent: Thursday, December 12, 2019 3:49 PM
To: Heidi Singer <hsinger@sdrma.org>; Debbie Yokota <dyokota@sdrma.org>; Dennis Timoney
<DTimoney@sdrma.org>; Danny Pena <dpena@sdrma.org>
Subject: FW: SCSD Claim for Primary clarifier

[Quoted text hidden]

95

mailto:claims@sdrma.org
mailto:hsinger@sdrma.org
mailto:dyokota@sdrma.org
mailto:DTimoney@sdrma.org
mailto:dpena@sdrma.org


Scotia Community Services District 
Staff Report 

DATE:  December 19, 2019 

TO: Scotia Community Services District Board of Directors 

FROM: Leslie Marshall, General Manager 

SUBJECT: Humboldt Wind Project 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive an update from the General Manager on TerraGen’s Humboldt Wind Project 
ACTION: 
No action. Item is for discussion only.  
DISCUSSION: 
The Board is familiar with the Humboldt Wind Energy Project but as a matter of review the project’s key 
components are as follows:  

o Up to 60 wind turbines with maximum height of 591 feet from base to highest point of blade rotation,
set on concrete foundations.

o A 19-mile underground fiber optics communications system and electrical collection system linking the
turbines to each other and to a substation for distribution into the General Transmission (Gen-tie) line.

o A 115 kiloVolt (kV) Gen-tie line of approximately 32 miles would transport the energy generated by the
wind towers. The Gen-Tie line would begin at a new substation located west of Highway 101, span in an
eastward direction, and cross under the Eel River. Once across the river, the Gen-Tie line would
continue eastward as an overhead line and connect to the PG&E Bridgeville Substation for distribution
into the power grid. PG&E substation expansion and improvements would be required.

o The wind tower and turbines with related components would enter Humboldt County via Humboldt Bay
with anticipated port of entry at Fields Landing. No improvements to facilitate the offloading of turbine
components from ships or barges have been proposed. There may be temporary off-ramps or other
proposed modifications along Highway 101 to accommodate the oversized loads.

o Proposed throughout the project area are temporary and permanent operations, maintenance, and staging
facilities, two temporary cement batch plants, and up to 17 miles of new access roads. Existing access
roads will be widened to accommodate oversized truck-trailer loads.

o A permanent operations facility that includes related buildings and offices would be constructed on the
west side of State Highway 101 at the Pepperwood/Avenue of the Giants exit.

(Humboldt County, Planning and Building Department) 
The Humboldt County Board of Supervisors will be meeting on Monday, December 16th at 9 AM at the Adorni 
Center for an appeal of the Planning Commission’s denial of the Humboldt Wind, LLC conditional use permit 
to begin work on Terr-Gen’s wind turbine project 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
None 
ATTACHMENTS: 
None  

96


	1_SCSD Reg Bd Mtg Agenda 12.19.19_FINAL
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

	C1_SCSD Reg. Bd Mtg Minutes 11.21.19
	E. PUBLIC HEARING – NONE

	C2a_RCB Checking
	C2b_RCB Cust Dep Savings
	C2c_RCB Savings
	C3_Scotia CSD Planwest Invoice 19-226-11 for PACKET
	Scotia CSD Planwest Invoice 19-226-11
	INVOICE

	SCSD Cost Track Nov 2019
	Nov 2019


	F1a_SR_Election of Board Officers GC61043a
	Scotia Community Services District
	Staff Report


	F1b_SR_Approve Board meeting time.schedule for 2020 CY
	Scotia Community Services District
	Staff Report


	F1c_ORDINANCE NO. 2019-2 Water Services December 2019_SB 99_Redline_1st Read
	F1c_SR_ORDINANCE NO. 2019-2 Water Services
	F1d_FY 2019-20 PROPOSED Master Fee Schedule_11-25-19 SB 998_REDLINE
	F1d_Resolution 2019-21 Master Fee Schedule Final
	APPROVED:      ATTEST:

	F1d_SR_Master Fee Schedule FY 19.20_SB 998_Update
	F1e_Resolution 2019-22 Personnel Policies and Procedures FINAL
	APPROVED:      ATTEST:
	CLERK'S CERTIFICATE
	AYES:
	NOES:
	ABSENT:
	ABSTENTIONS:

	F1e_SCSD Personnel Policies_Draft_REDLINE 12-16-19
	7.9.2 Pre-Employment Testing

	F1e_SR_Personnel Policies Update
	F1f_cal OES 89
	F1f_FFATA2019
	F1f_FFATA2020
	F1f_SDRMA_email1
	F1f_SDRMA_email2
	F1f_SR_CalOES and FEMA update re. Clarifier Repairs
	Scotia Community Services District
	Staff Report


	F1g_SR_Terra-Gen update
	Scotia Community Services District
	Staff Report





